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A historiographical study of the so-called
Ahwal-v Asad Big

MasHITA Hiroyuki

Introduction

The history of the Mughal emperor Akbar by Abu al-Fadl (Akbar Namah),
the most comprehensive historical source of the reign, finds its conclusion
with the beginning of the 47th regnal year (Mar.1602. AN,iii,803), due to the
sudden assassination of its author. The period from that time onward to the
end of the reign of Akbar (1605) is, compared with the days previous, quite
lacking in contemporary sources with regard to both quality and quantity.

For this period, therefore, we have to rely on, apart from sporadic retro-
spections in Gahangir’s memoirs (Gahang?r Namah, henceforth JN), Persian
dynastic chronicles of later days,' histories of Islamic India,* general histo-
ries,® other local history,* accounts of Jesuit missionaries and their compila-

v Igbal Namah-i Gehangwrt (INJ); the supplements (so-called Takmilah) of Akbar Namah.
There are three versions of the supplements. Two of the three versions were compiled
in Sah Gahan’s reign, but the exact dates are yet to be established. The first version
(TAN1) heavily depends on INJ. The unpublished second version (TAN2) has com-
pletely different text from that of TAN1. The text of the third version is, according to
Beveridge, different from that of TAN1 and TAN2 (ANtr,1204). An abridged trans-
lation of the third version is made by Lieut. Chalmers. The unpublished manuscript
of the translation is preserved in the library of the Royal Asiatic Society. I could not
make use of this version. The manuscript upon which it is based is not known. E&D
uses this version (E&D,vi,103-115).

2 Gulsan-i Ibrahimi (GI); Zubdat al- Tawarih (Z7T)

3 Rawdat al-Tahirin; Muntahab al-Tawardy; Ma‘dan-i Apbar-i Ahmadz; the so-called
Tarip-i Haydar?; Anfa® al-Apbar.

* Tadhkirat al-Mulak (TM) has aspects not only of a local history of the ‘Adil Sahi
kingdom of Bigapiir but also of a contemporary history of the Islamic regions both
within and beyond the borders of India. It includes a history of the Mughal empire as
well as that of the Safawids and the Ottomans. A critical edition by Abu Nasr Khalidt
is under preparation. A recent study based on the draft of the edition is [Ernst (2000)].
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tions,® and other European reports.®

Given such limited availability of contemporary sources, the memoirs of
Asad Big Qazwini (henceforth AAB) have come to be regarded as an impor-
tant testimonial by a contemporary of that period.

However, historiographical study of the memoirs is insufficient. We only
have brief descriptions ([Rieu (1879-83)],iii,979b; E&D,vi,150-154) and short
remarks to the work in papers on other topics ([Joshi (1950)]; [Joshi (1969)];
[Alam & Subrahmanyam (2000)]). Although a short note which focuses on
the memoirs appeared in 1941 ([AhmadMA (1941)]), since it was based on a
manuscript copied in modern times, we cannot acknowledge its significance
as a historiographical study. Of course, a critical edition of the memoirs is
yet to be published.

As for translations, there is one in English in the form of manuscripts.
It was done by B. W. Chapman of the Bengal Civil Service around 1853-4
for the collective materials of Indo-Islamic history organized by H. M. Elliot.
The English manuscript (Add. 30776) originally belonged to Elliot’s collec-
tion and was purchased by the British Library in 1878 together with the
English and Oriental manuscripts of the collection. The well-known English
translation of E&D is an extracted version based on Chapman’s translation
(E&D, vi, 154-174) . Chapman’s work is defective due to the manuscript
upon which it is based (Or.1837ii), since the latter is a modern copy of an-
other manuscript, as we will see later. From the viewpoint of a critical study
of the text, the translation is of little significance. Judging from the extracted
sentences of E&D, Chapman’s translation is not very faithful to the original
Persian.

For its value as a source of Akbar’s reign, see [Khan (1980)].

A number of letters preserved in Archivum Romanum Societatis Iesu of Rome should be
thoroughly scrutinized. One of the letters I have indirectly made use of in this paper. A
collection of letters written by Geronimo Xavier is preserved as a manuscript of Add.
9854 in the British Library and published in vol. 3 of Documentag¢do Ultramarina
Portuguesa. Lisboa, 1963, pp.1-291. A history of the Jesuit missions by Guerreiro is
based on the letters of Xavier for northern India of our period.

Mildenhall’s relation, though interesting, is too inconsequential to supplement the lack
of our historical information. The very important Pelsaert K will be discussed later.
The unpublished relations of the Florentine brothers Vecchietti, Giovan Battisita and
Gerolamo, who were at Akbar’s court, may contain relevant details, but I could not
consult them. For their travels and their relations, see [Almagia (1956)]. [Maclagan
(1932)] gives a brief mention to them in connection with Geronimo Xavier’s Persian
translation of the Psalter.
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We should refer to [Joshi (1950)], [Joshi (1969)] and [Alam & Subrah-
manyam (2000)] as studies based mainly on the memoirs. There we find
English citations from the memoirs, which may be regarded partial trans-
lations. However the manuscripts upon which they are based were copied
in modern times as I will describe below. [Joshi (1950)] is based on the S
ms. but at that time, he read the Persian text with the help of an infor-
mant. [Joshi (1969)] is based on the Bl ms. and Chapman’s translation,
while [Alam & Subrahmanyam (2000)] is based on the Bl ms. and the more
legible but less valuable AMU ms. Their translations are all too often not
faithful and sometimes even omit difficult passages without any notation. In
other words, we must consider them to be free translations.

There have been no attempts so far to confirm the historical value of the
memoirs as a historical source for the later years of Akbar. Therefore it is
indispensable to establish a critical text of the memoirs we can rely on and
to examine the historical authenticity of its testimonies.

Our study will be comprised of two parts: first, a textual criticism of the
memoirs to give the principles for preparing a critical edition which is to be
published as a separate work; and second, a historical criticism of its contents
through comparison with other histories.

This paper is a part of the joint research project of the memoirs by Dr.
W. H. Siddiqi and the present author. Qur aim is to publish a monograph,
which contains a critical edition of the memoirs. This paper aims to be an
introduction to that critical text.

In this paper, however, the deciphering of the manuscripts and the crit-
icism from the textual and historical standpoints are, up to this point, my
own responsibility. Therefore, all the mistakes and the faults of the present
paper rest with me.

2. Author

Concerning the author’s career, we have a brief remark by Rieu, based mainly
on a note attached to the end of some of the manuscripts of the memoirs.
[Nabi Hadi (1995)] gives an entry concerning our author, which, however, does
not surpass Rieu’s description ([Nabi Hadi (1995)], 88-89). The most signif-
icant contribution for our purposes is the footnotes attached to the edition
of the Mayhanah (MKh), where the editor assembles some of the references
to our author which appeared in the biography collections of Persian poets
(MKh,748-757).
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To my own knowledge, in the Persian chronicles, there is no reference to
him. Therefore direct information concerning our author is limited to that
found in his own memoirs and in biographical anthologies.

His name is Asad bun Muhammad Murad as it appears in his mem-
oirs.” He sometimes called himself Asad Big. He never affixed the nisbah of
Qazwini, which appears in few of biographical anthologies of Persian poets,
to his name. The date and the place of his birth are unknown. However
his own words as well as other biographical works of Persian poets evidence
his familial relation to the Iranian city. HI places his biography under the
description of the city (HI,iii,181-183). A biographical work says that he was
from a noble stock of Qazwin (akabir zadah-i Qazwin).® This explains his
link to the city as it appears in his nisbah, although it does not necessarily
permit us to conclude that his birthplace was Qazwin. We may conclude that
it is reasonable to call him Asad Big Qazwini with the nisbah as practiced
by many modern scholars.

As for his family, he mentioned the proper names of only his father
Muhammad Murad or Murad Big® and his brother Mirza Ibrahim Big.'°® We
find reference to his children, when he came back to Agrah from Deccan in
1602, and met them (farzandan) there since they had remained in the capital
city (AAB,9v/6). Their names are not specified and nothing is known about
their later lives.

As for his father, a biographical work mentions using the honorific ti-
tle of Hwagah that “he was a wealthy man who was well-informed of the
world, traveled through the world, and experienced the bitter and the sweet”
(MKh,748).

Asad Big gives an account of his father, referring to his familial origin
through the words of Asaf Han, when the latter spoke to introduce Asad Big
to the Emperor Akbar: “Asad Big is our close relative. And his father is
called Murad Big-i Aqa BLABY 3. They [Asad and his father] belong to

the esteemed good people of Qazwin.” !

7 AAB,2r/4. The below references of AAB follow the A manuscript.

8 MKh,748. The account in the eighteenth century biographical work that Asad Big
belongs to the house of Timiir (Al-i TImir) is out of the question (Safinah-i Hisgd, as
quoted in a footnote to MKh,748).

® AAB,2r/4; AAB,8v/14.

19 AAB,16v/13; 34r/8; 36r/2; 361/8; 41v/1; 42r/2; 44r/17; 46v/8 ; 50r/15; 50r/17.
11 AAB,8v/13-15. There is a clerical problem in BLABY, because other manuscripts of
AAB have a form of Mulla1 3% (R ms., 6v/19; Bl ms.: 8/16). Murad Big-i Aqa

54



A historiographical study of the so-called Ahwal-i Asad Big

If we trust the statement of Asaf Han, Asad Big shared ancestrage with
the noble Iranian family and was a cousin of Asaf Han. This has never been
pointed out by previous studies.'?

However we should be cautious in adding him to the eminent family. It
is true that Asaf Han immigrated to Mughal India from Qazwin, and be-
longed to the notable family, from which influential Mughal nobles appeared
one after another, maintaining matrimonial relations with the other eminent
Iranian family of I‘timad al-Dawlah.'® Nevertheless, other than the words
of Asaf Han, biographical accounts of Asad Big do not mention any relation
between the family and Asad Big or his father Murad Big. Even Asad Big
himself does not claim such a relationship except for the statement by Asaf
Han. The fact that he cites the statement in the third person may reflect his
understanding of his own actual relation with Asaf Han. He seems to imply
that he is not responsible for the authenticity of the statement cited in the
direct narration.

Therefore the words of Asaf Han, which Asad Big deliberately quoted,
should be seen as a kind of tactic for giving a fellow from the same place of
origin a more favorable introduction with the emperor.

BLABY (or Mulla'l) must mean Murad Big, belonging to the family of Aqa BLA
(or Mulla). It is established by collecting sporadic information in the sources that
Aga Mulla is the grandfather of Asaf Han (Aga Mulla as the father of Giyat al-Din
([AhmadKM (1932)], 23-25, plate XIV-XV); Giyat al-Din as a paternal uncle of Asaf
Han (DhKh,i,187); Aqa Mulla as the father of Muhtar Big (AA,i,229, 231); Muhtar
Big as a paternal uncle of Asaf Han (AAB,10r/16; JN,11; JN Al7; JNtrl, 16; JNtr2,
29. JN and JNtr2 are wrong when they read Mubtar ) as Mumtaz ;\i¢)). Therefore,
if the original form is Mulla’l and the Aga Mulla as the grandfather of Asaf Han is
identical with the Aqa Mulla as the relative of Asad Big, it lends logicality to the
above cited words of Asaf Han. If it was the case, the person who appears in TAAA as
the father of BadT* al-Zaman, the father of Asaf Jan must be identical with the above
mentioned Aga Mulld. Consequently, the variously spelled name of the person (Aqa
TLA  (TAAA,165) or Aqda NLA S (TAAA,166)) can be reasonably regarded as a
clerical error for Aqa Mulla Me. To return to the form of Aqa BLABY in the A ms., if
we suppose that the person named Aqa BLA is the grandfather of Asaf Han, the same
clerical error (_y3\ for d‘M.o) may be true of this case. In any case, at this present stage,
I can draw no conclusions concerning this point. Because no positive evidence for the
identification of Aqa BLA or Mulla of AAB with the grandfather of Asaf Han is found
in the sources except the above mentioned words of Asaf Jan. Moreover the supposed
clerical error in TAAA is yet to be established through the scrutiny of manuscripts.
12 [Habib (1969)] does not list Asad Big in the family lineage.
13 For the details, see [Habib (1969)].
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If this is the case, we can acknowledge only the fact that Asad Big and
Asaf Han share the same place of origin Qazwin, and not any familial con-
nection.

Recent studies of Iranian immigrants to Islamic India show some patterns
of emigration, one of which was to search for connections with fellows from
their same place of origin. It is true that at that time, many years had
passed since Asad Big’s migration as we will see below. However, what made
Asaf Han offer such an advantage to him might have been sentiment for a
common homeland. A biographical account of Asad Big says: “He was known
as Asad Big Abu al-Fadli and [after the assassination of Abi al-Fadl] was at
Mirza Ga‘far Asaf Han for some time.”'* Asaf Han’s patronage of Asad Big
recounted here seems to reflect such a sentiment.

Now let us turn to Asad Big’s life and career.

When he was young, Asad Big came to Hirat and became an inkpot-
holder (dawat-dar) under Hwagah Afdal, the wazir of the city.'® Although
his activity in Hirat is unknown from the sources, the above passage informs
us of his literary ability as a clerk by which he earned his livelihood. If his
grandfather was identical with Aqa TLAY dawatdar-i Qazwini, his activity
in the same office may reflect a familial background in administration.

It was from the Khurasanid city that he proceeded to India (Hindistan)
(MKh,748), but the reason why Asad Big left Hirat is unknown. We do not
know whether he was accompanied by some of his family members. Concern-
ing whether or not his brother Ibrahim Big, who was clearly active with him
during the later years of Akbar, left together with him, there is no evidence.

As for the date of his arrival in India, his own statement should be the
key: he had served his master Abi al-Fadl for seventeen years, when the
latter was assassinated in Rabl. 1011 AH /Aug.1602 (AAB,9r). Then he
must have begun his service in 994 (1586/7). We do not find any evidence of
Asad Big’s Indian career before this term of service. This fact may show that
he began his life in India with this service to Abu al-Fadl. However, what we
can confirm at the present stage is that Asad Big arrived in India not later
than that year.!®

When Abu al-Fadl was dispatched to Deccan in January of 1599, Asad

4 <Arafat al-‘Arifin, quoted in a footnote to MKh,749.

15 MKh,748. For Hwagah Afdal Isfahant, see TAAA, 285, 303, 305.

16 The statement of Majzan al-@ard ’%b (compiled 1803/4) that Mirza Asad Big Qazwini
came to India in the days of Gahangir is out of the question.
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Big must have followed his master (AN,iii,748). Due to the death of his
master, he entered into Akbar’s service. Asad Big was assigned the rank
(mansab) 100 of sawar 25 with an adequate gagir and was appointed as a
night-guard (yataq) (AAB,10r/1-10v/6). In 1603, he was sent to investigate
for negligence in the unsuccessful siege on the fort of Ira¢ by Ray-i Rayan’s
troops (AAB,10v/13 ff.). From 1603 to 1604, he was working as an envoy
to Bigapiur of Deccan (AAB,15r/1 ff.). When he returned from that mission,
he was promoted to the mansab 200 of sawar 50 (AAB,38v/15-16). He was
appointed to succeed to the service of Hwagah Amin al-Din, namely as an
intermediary for subjects calling upon the emperor.*”

In 1605, he was again dispatched as an ambassador to the four provinces
of Deccan (AAB,40r/12-17). However, due to the sudden death of the em-
peror, his mission was not completed. After staying in Burhanpir with Han-i
Hanan ‘Abd al-Rahim, he was recalled to Agrah by the succeeding emperor
Gahangir.!8

Asad Big remained a mansab-dar in Gahangir’s regime, although his rank
is not known.'®* He was appointed a bahst in Kabul, but the date of the
appointment is not clear. On the other hand, Asad Big also stayed in Agrah,
since TaqT Awhadi says that he met Asad Big in Agrah when he was preparing
his work ‘Arafat al-‘Arifin (compiled during 1613 to 1615).2°

The author of another biography collection says that he met Asad Big in
Mandt when he arrived there in 1026 AH (1617-8) (MKh,750). The reason
for Asad Big’s stay in Mandq is not mentioned in the sources. Furthermore,
Asad Big is reported to have accompanied Mahabat Han to Banga$ in the
same year (MKh,750). Mahabat Han’s dispatch to Kabul and Banga$ is
established by GahangTr’s testimony (JN,226), although the appointment of
Asad Big is not referred to in any of the sources.

The biographical note following the colophon of some of the manuscripts
of AAB says that he was conferred the title of Pisraw Han in the later years
of Gahangir. However, in connection with the date of his death, this is open

17 AAB,39r/1-9. Gahangir says that Amin al-Din held the office of the chief imperial
night-guard (yatas big) in the later years of Akbar (JN,9), while Asad Big does not
specify Amin al-Din’s office. For yatas, see [Doerfer (1963-75)], iv, 53.

18 A biographical work mentions his mission to Deccan, although it is not clear which of
the two missions it refers to (MKh,749).

19 <Arafat al-‘Arifin, as quoted in MKh,749.

20 «Arafat al-‘Arifin, as quoted in MKh,749-750.
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to question.?!

There are two options for the date. The first alternative of 1030 AH (1620-
1) is reported by the biography collection of Mirat-i Gahan Numa compiled in
Awrangzib’s reign. If this information is true, the conferment of that title in
the later years of Gahangir, who died in 1627, should be doubted. Secondly,
a biographical note of some manuscripts of AAB indicates that Asad Big died
in 1041 AH (1631-2). This information is in accord with another report that
he died in the early days of Sah Gahan in T@ran.?? In any event, there is
no conclusive evidence concerning this problem, so we shall have to wait for
some as yet unpublished materials to settle this issue.

Regarding his literary works, the ‘Arafat al-‘Arifin completed in 1615
reports that Asad Big compiled a diwan containing two thousand couplets.
On the other hand, the MKh completed in 1619 records the number differently
as eight thousand for the couplets.?® The discrepancy in number may reflect
the progress of Asad Big’s literary production.?

What is most important is the fact that none of the sources mentions
his memoirs of AAB. As we have already seen, sources other than the bio-
graphical works, namely annalistic histories, do not mention Asad Big at all.
This fact reflects his evaluation by the society to which he belonged. He was
recognized as a poet rather than a politician or an administrative officer.

The biographical works naturally focus on his eloquence and talent for
writing as a poet. His appointment as inspector of the failed siege of Ira¢
and as ambassador to Deccan must have been due to his skill as a negotiator
backed by his eloquence. His ready tact and judgment gave him opportunities
to express that eloquence, although his own depiction should be accepted
with due regard for his dramatization. Talking one obvious example, when
he reported the inspection results to Akbar, he explained away that though
the officers were negligent, they were not at fault, and in fact no one was
responsible for the loss. The emperor and the courtiers admired his quick
tact (AAB, 11r/10-11v/3).

On the other hand, his official career was supported by his skill at writing.
As we have seen, Asad Big, before his migration to India, served as secretary

21 The reference found in the modern biography collection of Sam*i Anguman (compiled

1875) might be based on the note.

22 Safinah-i Hasga, as quoted in MKh,748.

28 MKh,750. ‘Arafat al-‘Arifin, as quoted in MKh,750.

21 His saql namah of 121 couplet including the panegyric for Gahangir and other poems
are found in MKh,750-757.
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(dawatdar) to a wazir and was an army clerk (bahsi) during Gahangir’s reign.
Such ability was always found hand in hand with poetic skill in the pre-
modern literary society of the Perso-Indian milieu.

However, his social status as it appeared in his mansab was quite low.
When he entered Akbar’s service, he was appointed to the mansab 100. Even
after the mission to Bijapir, which was accomplished with great success af-
ter much hardship, he was only promoted to the mansab of 200. Under the
system of mansabdar, only the holders of rank of the 500 or more were des-
ignated as nobles (umara’. sg. amir). The list of mansabdars, which had
been prepared by 1594, omits the names of mansabdars holding a mansab
lower than 200.2° These facts explain the low official status of Asad Big,
as compared with his brilliant activities which Asad Big himself described
concerning his imperial service.

Therefore, it is not difficult to discern his less favorable circumstances un-
der Gahangir’s regime. Asad Big long served for Abi al-Fadl whom Gahangir
regarded with enough hostility to assassinate. In the later years of Akbar,
whom Asad Big served, Gahangir confronted his royal father at every oppor-
tunity. The murder of Abii al-Fadl was the result of the antagonism (JN,15).
Therefore it is possible to think that such a background of his could have
been an obstacle to his official success under Gahangir. He recounted in his
memoirs the complications he faced in which he was recalled by Gahangir and
was on the verge on being punished by death for his long delay in presenting
himself to the new emperor. He was narrowly saved from this trial by Amir
al-Umara’ (Sarif Han) to enter into the service of Gahangir. This procession
of events probably brought about in him the most important conversion in
his life. Although his activities of that period cannot be fully detailed, his
absence in the contemporary chronicles would seem to indicate that he did
not gain any official recognition worthy of notice. His appointment to the
bahsT of Bangas where time and again Afghan tribes had risen up in revolt
does not seem to have been a favorable promotion for him. The office of bahst
in Kabul to which he was appointed as mentioned above is most probably not
identical with that of the provincial babst of Kabul. It should be interpreted
as a lower bahsi of an contingent posted in Kabul.

Summing up these circumstances, it seems that Asad Big gained a certain
measure of fame as a poet but was an obscure official all his life in India.

25 For the date of the list and the comparison with the list of Tabaqat-i Akbari, see
[Mashita (1999)].
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According to the memoirs, when he was appointed to the second mission
to Deccan, Akbar promised to grant him the mansab of 1000 on his return.
We are not in the position to judge whether or not this was historically
accurate. However, at the very least we can suppose Asad’s intention to
claim a status suitable to his service by referring to this promise, which was
not fulfilled due to Akbar’s death.

3. Criticism at the text

There are six manuscripts of the memoirs known to exist. The author’s
autographical manuscript has not been discovered. The text in the work and
the historical settings of the author’s time do not permit us to assume the
existence of multiple autograph copies. Therefore we have to reconstruct the
original text from the six manuscripts described hereafter.

3.1. Physical description of the manuscripts

First, we shall describe the physical aspects of the manuscripts. An asterisk
placed beside an item indicates my own description, not to be found in the
catalogues.

A ms.

Andhra Pradesh Government Oriental Manuscripts Library
Fann-i Sawanih-i ‘Umrt 41 ([Asafiyyah (1332-3)],ii, 848, no. 41)
ff. 56 *

1. 17 *

Size: 21 by 12 ¢cm *

Script: Sikastah *

Not dated *

There is no colophon.

On f.1r, there are five notes and four seals. One of the notes says that
the manuscript was purchased during the reign of ‘Alamgir II, who ruled
from 1167 to 1173 AH (1748-1759). The date on the seal of a certain ‘Abd
al-Qadir, also affixed to the same note, is 1157 AH. And yet another seal
is dated 1120 AH / 1708-9. Taking into consideration the nature of dating
found on seals, 1120 AH is not necessarily the date of the manuscript. At
any rate, we can conclude from these facts that the manuscript was copied
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not later than the first half of the eighteenth century. This means that this
manuscript is the oldest among all of the known manuscripts.

However, the physical condition of the manuscript is poor. Due to worm-
eaten holes and crumbling, many parts of the text are defective. Patches
papered on the recto sides all too often hinder our deciphering the letters
under them. Furthermore, there is mistaken pagination. Folios 11 and 14 are
interchanged, and folio 31 should be placed between the present folios 25 and
26.

R ms.

Rampur Raza Library

No. 1739 m ([Rampir (1996)],i, 616, no. 2069 b)

ff. 36

1. 21 *

Size: 13.5 by 25.5 cm *

Script: Nasta‘lig-i Sikastah Amiz *

Copied DhQ. 22, 1199 AH /Sep. 26, 1785 by Tulst Das.

An oval seal of the copyist Tulsi Das dated 1181 AH is found on f.36v.
On the red leather cover, the seal of the State Library of Rampur has been
stamped in gold leaf. We know that it has been re-bound, because parts of
some of the marginal notes are cut off. In its present state, this manuscript
has come to be viewed as a single codex devoted only to the memoirs. How-
ever it was originally a part of a larger manuscript, as the note on f.1r relates,
“Together with [the manuscript of] Gahangirs, Number 64 (hamrah-i nambar
64 gahangir1)”. According to the earliest catalogue of the Rampur Raza Li-
brary prepared in 1889 (now kept by the deputy librarian),?® manuscript no.
64 is described as the one volume Tarih-i Tuzuk-i Gahangiri. The manuscript
is identified with that of Tuzuk-i Gahang#rt (No. 1737 m) preserved in the
same library. In its present state, this manuscript contains Gahangir’s mem-
oirs and the supplement by Muhammad Hadi. However, a note on f.1r of this
manuscript lists the following contents of the manuscript in its original form,
in which we find Asad Big’s work. The numerical characters in the list are
written in the Siyagat script.

26 For this catalogue, see [HanHAA (1998)], 231.
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496 folios

Copy of Gahangir Namah, 235 folios.

Copy of Ahwal-i Asad Big Qazwing, 36 folios.
Copy of Ahwal-i Sah Suga‘ and others, 44 folios.
Copy of Ahwal-i Fath-i Mulk al-Sam, 53 folios.

The first and the second components are definitively identical with
manuscripts no. 1737 m and no. 1739 m respectively. The third manuscript
has been identified as that of Tarih-i Sah Suga‘s (No. 5478 m) preserved in
the same library, while the fourth cannot be found in the library collection.

The colophon of manuscript no. 1737 m dated Saf. 27, 1197 AH / Feb.
1, 1783 indicates that it was copied in Agrah (“dar al-hilafah Akbarabad”)
by the same TulsT Das of no. 1739 m. Moreover, the colophon of manuscript
no. 5478 m dated DhQ.1200 AH / Aug.-Sep.1786 records the scribe as this
Tulst Das. The two manuscripts bear the same oval seal of Tulst Das dated
1181 AH, which is also found within the manuscript of AAB. The number of
lines is twenty one, equal to that of the no. 1739 m. The writing paper used
is also identical.

These facts lead us to surmise that first, manuscript no. 1739 m was
originally a part of the larger collective manuscript of historical works; second,
each part of the manuscript was copied by Tulst Das; third, the copying was
completed during a short period in the later years of the twelfth century AH
with the same format on the same paper; and fourth, the copying was done
in Agrah.

AMU ms.

Maulana Azad Library, Aligarh Muslim University

‘Abd al-Salam Collection, no. 270/40.

pp. 139

1. 14

Size: 27.9 by 17.8 cm

Copied Muh. 29, 1319 AH / May 18, 1901 by Mohd. Naziruddin.

This manuscript is copied from the above manuscript of Rampur (R ms.)
for Sahibzada Abdus Salam Khan.
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S ms.

National Library, Calcutta

Sir Jadunath Sarkar Collection
Catalogue no. 7.

pp.185.

This manuscript is included in the collection of the eminent historian
Jadunath Sarkar (1879-1958), who made about two hundred copies of Persian
manuscripts concerning Indo-Islamic history for his research, which have been
preserved in various libraries in India for his research. This manuscript is “a
copy of the original preserved in Rampur” ([Hasan (1966)], 185), which must
refer to the R ms.

B1 ms.

British Library

Or. 1996 ([Rieu (1879-83)],iii,979a)

pPpP-55

11.21

12’1/4 by 9 in.

Sikastah-Amiz

Copied Rabl. 25, 1211 AH/ Sep. 27, 1796 by Kisan Das.

This manuscript originally belonged to the collection of Henry Miers Elliot
(1808-1853), the compiler of the eight volume source-book of Indo-Islamic
history (E&D).?"

The date the manuscript entered his collection is not known. However
it should fall between 1840 and 1852 when he was collecting manuscripts,
intending to cover all the material bearing on the history of Muslim India.?®

27 For his career and works, see [Rieu (1879-83)],iii, pp. xxii-xxiv. [Wahi (1990)]’s reap-
praisal of his works is informative on many points. It sidelights the relationship between
Elliot and Aloys Sprenger, the Principal of the Muhammadan College in Delhi from
1844 to 1847.

[Sprenger (1854)] gives a brief list of his collection of manuscripts in the year after his
death. Our manuscript Or.1996 must be identical with manuscript no. 103 of the list
([Sprenger (1854)],245, no. 103), whose description corresponds to the above details
of Or.1996. The collected manuscripts were to be deposited in the College Library of
Agrah ([Blochmann (1869)],107-8).

28
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B2 ms.

British Library

Or. 1837ii ([Rieu (1879-83)],iii,1029a)
f£.113-259

1.13

5’3/4 by 3'1/2 in.

Nasta‘liq

Not dated.

Though it is not dated, Rieu apparently assumes the copy to be dated
around 1850. I regard this figure as appropriate as I will explain below.

This text is bound together with another work titled Mir’at-i Mas‘ads,
the life of Salar Mas‘ad Gazl, being copied on the same paper in the same
format by the same hand. At the head of the manuscripts, a letter by [B.]
W. Chapman addressed to a certain Charles Allen in Calcutta dated Oct.
18, 1854 is attached. In the letter, Chapman explains his delay in translating
the two works, the “History of Magtid” and the “life of Asad Beg”, in the
manuscript and inquires about the deadline to submit his translation. This
leads us to think that it was this manuscript that was used as the base for
Chapman’s translation of AAB (Add. 30776). This conclusion is supported
by the coincidence of the above details with those of “Sir H. M. Elliot’s MS.”,
used for the translation given by Dowson (E&D, vi, 154). At the death of
Elliot in 1853,%° this manuscript seems to have been kept by Chapman. This
is the reason why the manuscript is not listed in [Sprenger (1854)].

3.2. Analysis of textual variants

I intend to analyze textual variants from the viewpoint of the textual frame-
work and the elements in the sentences of each manuscript compared with
the other manuscript(s).

R ms.

For convenience of discussion, we shall begin with analysis of the R ms.

2% He died on Dec. 20, 1853 in Simonstown, Cape of Good Hope on his way home from
India. See the article of DNB by S. Lane-Poole. Rieu is wrong in placing the date at
the beginning of the year 1854 ([Rieu (1879-83)], iii, pp. xxii).
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The distinctive features of the R ms. text in contrast with that of the
A ms. can be enumerated as follows: first, the rubrics of the chapter titles;
second, the existence of a postscript; and third, the addition of a biographical
note by a later writer concerning the author Asad Big. The R ms. does not
share these three features with the A ms. The content of the postscript of the
second variant does not permit us to conclude whether this is the author’s
own work or a later addition.

Concerning sentence elements, there are some errors in the Persian words,
as follows: the past stem &8s or the past participle w28 (that must have
meant «.35_3) should be read as ceufs or 4L Ss % (da_:.! should be read as

131; and the past stem il or the past participle aLiii or the infinitive
Jlacid should be read as Cawddd, alucdd, Jluwdd respectively.®?

It is clear that the scribe was not well acquainted with Mongolian and
Turkic, because he fails to copy some words in their exact form, as follows:

dj‘.\o should be read as Jslais “rear guard” % |42 | eai jsm | o& | od
82 98 ;a5 should be read as je¢&5 “a gift comprising nine articles” *%;
and dl:w should be read as db&; “a well-fed and beautiful horse from the
western lands” *°.

As each mistake occurs on multiple occations in a methodical manner,
this fact can neither be attributed to the author who originated from Iran
nor to orthographical variance. Therefore these failings must be attributed

to the inferiority of the scribe.
AMU ms.

The AMU ms. was copied from the R ms. in modern times as we have
already seen. Therefore its value in reconstructing the original text cannot
surpass that of the R ms.

30 R ms., 1v/18, 8r/3, 35v/4

31 R ms., 1v/14, 5r/20, 6r/10, 6r/11, 26r/1, 34v/15, 34v/20

32 R ms., 4v/11, 7r/12, 8r/17, 10v/14, 13r/15, 16r/19, 17r/18, 18r/17, 18v/21, 19r/1,
19r/2, 28v/20.

3% R ms., 28r/20, 28v/1

% R ms., 10r/9, 10r/13, 11v/17, 14r/14, 17r/14, 17r/15, 21v/1, 26v/1

3 R ms., 10r/12
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S ms.

The same is true of the S ms. Since it was copied from the R ms. in
modern times, it has no value for our purposes.

B1 ms.

The Bl ms. shares the distinctive features of the R ms., namely the
chapter titles, a postscript and a biobraphical note not found in the A ms.
The commonality in textual framework and variants leads us to conclude that
tha R ms. and the B1 ms. belong to the same line in the manuscript lineage,
which is different from that of the A ms.

As for the sentence elements, collating the three manuscripts (R ms., Bl
ms. and A ms.) reveals a marked frequency of commonality between the
R ms. and the Bl ms. in comparison with the A ms. On the other hand,
textual differences between the Bl ms. and the R ms. are quite few. While
failing to provide the number of variants here, the commonality is beyond
doubt even after a brief survey.

Having established these points, we shall proceed to a comparison of
variants between the R ms. and the B1 ms. Excluding simple errors and the
differences in orthography, we can classify the variants as follows: first, usage
of alternative words or phrases; second, change in word order; and third,
insertion and deletion of words or phrases.

The first type of variant can be sub-classified as follows:
proper nouns variants;

R B1

21/8) s (2/9) Y55

(151/12) Lo U¥ge (20/14) & a b¥se

(20v/1) _#), (28/10) Jo £,

(21r/14) oble ol (20/13) o\l
(28v/5,28v/11,20v/19) (lake 5 (50 (41/8, 41/13, 43/15) ok s sra
(31r/5) f:.h‘j\ [sic.] 150 (45/16) Ly f_\A\j‘ [sic.] };_
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synonymous variants;

R
(Tr/5) Xadae &l
(26v/18) Wrel o
(281/12) wasd 3 )law
(29v/14) 055 Cuax,

(33r/20)  §asl

conjugational variants;

R

(4v/17) SUW
(5r/16) .)..J):
(6r/15) >4
(9v/15) A
(9r/16) rJEF'-".'
(14v/20) &) ¢
(20v/9) s
(30v/16) X390 ine

B1

(9/7) wadue Oy,
(38/12) %55 J o
(40/17) Wzgap piw
(43/11) 0346 Camax

(49/17) ks

B1

(6/6) ! oael
(6/20) Xl
(8/6) 9uc
(13/5) a8
(12/12) ;45
(43/7) w5,
(45/8) ailo e

and variants that result in differences of meaning.

R

(8v/19) ousd lgu
(14v/8) «

(320/4) & yan

B1

(11/21) oad s
(19/16) &5
(48/7) () gouan

Demonstrating word order variants, here are a few examples;

R
(3r/3) o)\& 4
(51/16) dU o of

(36r/2) >4 & o e

Bl
(3/15) Js 5 0@
(6/20) of 4 U

(54/6) 39 o o bl

Cases of insertion and elimination are numerous. Here we shall list some

of the obvious examples;
R
(6r/15) Obﬁwj\_.zj O‘n"
(7r/13) Y D pa
(19r/17) old 5N Sre

B1
(8/6) codd a3 A3 o)
(9/13) p 92 0 Pt O o>
(26/17) ouild ook BY e
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5 S b),la)‘lauu sl u.(.‘r'fﬂ.) (44/7-8) Jx._{)f.la\.&) sug_.,.{.'ijaﬂa
(30r/13) x> 5 bluy!

In summary, these variants are beyond differences in the idiosyncratic
styles of copyists, such as variations in orthography. Therefore we should
suppose the existence of not less than one inferior copy in the manuscript
lineage to which the R and Bl mss. belong.

Since we inferred the existence of two distinct lines, with the A ms. be-
longing to one and R and B1 belonging to the other, we can suppose the
existence of a common manuscript for the two lines.

Then if we collate the texts of the three manuscripts above, excluding
the unique variants in the A ms. as we saw above, the frequency of unique
variants in the B1 ms. is much more remarkable than that of the R ms. This
fact is clearly demonstrated by the examples I have shown above. Therefore
we can conclude that in relation to the supposed common manuscript, the
B1 ms. is far more inferior to the R ms.

At a secondary level of evidence, contextual and historical mistakes pe-
culiar to the variants in the B1 ms. support its inferiority. For example,

55 (‘3‘“‘3’ 038 ASus 1,9l 15 3 (10/18)
(should read 55 anlgs iy 1)l 1y 5 as in the other two mss.)

g pes ysike olisl (44/1)
(should read g as | s2ie olisl)

Ollale fs 5o (41/2, 41/8, 41/13)
(should read Hlabu 5 Sage)*

Furthermore, slips in spelling found only in the B1 ms. are favorable for
this conclusion. For example,

36 Mahdi QulT Sultdan appears in AAB in the narration of the second mission to Deccan
in 1605. While the name of Mahdi ‘Alf Sultan does not appear in any contemporary
sources, Mahdt Quli Sultan is referred to in MR as one of the persons who had served
‘Abd al-Ra.him (MR,iii,1638-42). According to MR, when he migrated from Iran,
Mahdi Quli first entered the service of Prince Salim, who was in Ilahabas. After serving
Akbar, he was sent to Han-1 Hanan. There, he exhibited his poetic and musical ability
(MR,1ii,1640-1). This account coincides with that of AAB, where he is referred to
as a fellow traveller of Asad Big and is reported to have joined the banquet of ‘Abd
al-Ra.him (AAB,46v).
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O (24/5, 24/10, 24/11) for o>
IE'le (29/13) for LK

g (35/15, 38/17) for s
olaldes (40/4) for Hlaledss

However there is no decisive information concerning the relationship be-
tween the R ms. and the B1 ms. We are not sure whether the two manuscripts
were copied separately from a common parent manuscript or the Bl ms. was
copied from the R ms. by a careless scribe. What we do know at the present
stage is that in the manuscript lineage to which the R and B1 mss. belong,
not less than one inferior transcription was produced.

B2 ms.

The textual framework of the B2 ms. has the same distinctive features
as the R ms. and the Bl ms. And its textual variants, in almost all cases,
follow the unique cases found in the B1 ms. From these facts, we can safely
suppose a direct relation between the B2 ms. and the B1 ms. In fact, the B2
ms. is apparently quite modern.?” Therefore I believe, along with Rieu, that
the B2 ms. was most probably copied from the B1 ms.

However there is some evidence to rebut this theory, although it is indirect
and circumstantial. As mentioned above, the B2 ms. is bound with another
manuscript of the Mir’at-i Mas‘adr (Or. 1837 i, ff.4-112) written in the same
hand on the same paper. In other words, the B2 ms. was copied at the same
time as Or. 1837 i. If we suppose that the B2 ms. was copied from the B1 ms.
which was then in the Elliot collection, then also the parent manuscript of Or.
1837 i should have been in the collection. Among the Persian manuscripts
now preserved in the British Library, which were formerly assembled in the
Elliot collection, we find two manuscripts of the Mir’at-i Mas‘adi: the first,
Or. 17471 (ff. 149-168), copied from June 1850 to May 1851; and the second,
Or. 2014 v (ff.75-91), copied around 1850. However, on the basis of the date
of copying as well as the quantity of the folios, neither of the two manuscripts
could be the parent of Or. 1837 i. Therefore we should infer the existence of
a parent manuscript of Or. 1837 i outside of the Elliot collection. The same
should be true of the B2 ms. Therefore it should be possible to suppose that
the B2 ms. was not copied from the B1 ms. but from another manuscript,
which was outside the collection and has yet to be recovered.

37 Rieu dates the copy around 1850 ([Rieu (1879-83)],iii,1029a).
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However we can not accept this disproof. The absence of the parent
manuscript of Or. 1837 i does not logically result in the absence of the
supposed parent manuscript of B2. In fact, according to [Sprenger (1854)],
Elliot made use of many manuscripts, which were on loan from their owners.
In this way, we can explain the absence of the parent manuscript of Or. 1837
i based on this fact. The parent manuscript of Or. 1837 i must have been
returned to its owner. The absence of the parent manuscript for the first
part of Or. 1837 and the presence of that for the second part of the same
manuscript thus do not contradict.

On the other hand, the supposed transcription of the B2 ms. from the
B1 ms. may in itself be counter-evidence against our theory, because the En-
glish translator could borrow the B1 ms. from Elliot for his translation work,
without making a new copy. However, although we can not fully exclude that
possibility, we can explain the reason a new copy was needed. The B2 ms. is
written in much more legible nasta‘liq. Many of the undotted strokes of the
B1 ms. written in Sikastah are restored to their original spellings. A more leg-
ible copy seems to have been necessary for the translator who was an English
official working for the Bengal Civil Service. To read a Persian manuscript
written in Sikastah was a more difficult task for an English official than one
written in nasta‘liq. Some pages in a Persian manual for English writers give
weight to this supposition. There identical Persian texts are typed in both
nasta‘liq and Sikastah styles together with their English translations. The
pages were practices for reading texts in Sikastah style with reference to the
nasta‘liq style.®

A ms.

Since we have clarified the inferiority of the B1 ms. to the R ms., we now
have to analyze the position of the A ms. in comparison with the latter.

Concerning the textual framework, as we have already seen in the R ms.,
the A ms. differs on the following three major points: first, the A ms. lacks
chapter titles and the space for titles stands blank; second, it does not include
the postscript; and third, it lacks the biographical note concerning the author
by a later writer.

We can classify the textual variants found in the A ms. and the R ms.,
which are beyond slight clerical errors or minor orthographical alternations,

38 [Gladwin (1801)], 93ff. “Specimens of Shekustdmeiz”.
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as follows: first, the use of alternative words or phrases; and second, the

insertion and deletion of words or phrases.

The first type of the variant can be sub-classified as follows:

proper nouns variants, i.e.?°,
A
(34r/16, 34v/1) 9
(44v/7) Lo Mg
(83r/9) (u93 Lo ne
(54v/17) o5
synonymous variants, i.e.,
A
(3r/14) <y
(4v/14) 035 395 ol 4 Ll
(5v/10) ) Kawe
(71/9) aza8” el y & ekt |
(130/4) wogr o Lol o
conjugational variants, i.e.,
A
(2r/11) sl ons
(4r/11) ayl g 293
(6v/14) Xisy ol ea Ol ol
compound sentences variants, i.e.,

A
(161/7) 03,4l i 43 a5 JAa
(29r/3) osliu b A2s ¢ fo CwonX

R

(24r/19, 241/20) 3
(30r/2-3) (gusil Lo s
(34r/10-1) u9:3 Ul Lo e
(35v/11) sLLsT

R

(2v/9) ox

(BV/11) 035 395 el 1 4
(4r/16) o) Kaal

(5r/21) wdgep plnel & ekl
(9v/5) Wl Lol o

R

(1v/18) o

(3r/16) sl 34 5

(5r/11) 54; ol oa Ol ol ; o

R

(11v/20) o .\J:JJT &y AT ad JAe
(21v/19) 3 sk p Al 3§ fe CuedS
(29r/2) onal 39 3 &3, & Oeny o

other variants that produce differences in meaning, i.e.,

A
(20v/14) 59 OB 54, *fe-"m Js b
(24r/9) Lk bl 4

39 For the last variant, see infra.
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K3y el 5l & W s Ldb 4 o
(19v/4)
a5 O9h e 238 a2 Glil 1) L
(21v/12) —ch‘? A,y e 6l

and changes of word order, i.e.,
A
(4r/11) omel w Oligl §o=
WD, i eesly s Ollasl o e
(14r/17)
N (44r/1) se8ae Lol A5 cﬁij/r\i.a):
RO RGP S | Ve LIV C IR Vg
(54v/1-2)

SV v1C SR VAP LR NG PV BN | R Ve
(14r/18)

Adll 5 On rame W3 o2 olls
(161‘/2) des J‘:’.J‘jf Gl

R

(3r/16) oxsl lay) Sk e

sl |, s Slasl s wealy e
(8r/19)

_ (29v/8) sgdus i g;éfj,r_k(r\.b):
wb bl s Ol b osb g g Ol
(35r/21)

Cases of insertion and deletion are numerous. Here we shall list some of

the obvious examples.*?:
A
ookl o)y Ll b osly o g nas
(3v/8-9) winy o cuiliG ) aaled
S sy slls o g b gens” SBLSE )
oy sy e 93 b lee aaily 5 oy
Sy Cone el Lol s w1l
a2t SIS S5l ctlae 295 la daily nis
Sy ey cadlind oLl
(14v/16-12r/2)
S ot de 03 Las Ol T!A{J”' 3
(431/12) Wasd )3

XS ol gy Gl
(6r/8) C.)‘:J: Sy

R

ol ol e Jsb oly,s py s
(2v/20) Wi & cslasS

S el sleds o oL seasd BBl )
Sk LW S el e waily 4 oy
(8v/13) <, coadluwy cdlyid 0L, (6,

\*il:.a 9§ dy oals o> U\';“\ (’L\{Jr K
DA K o oasl, plail g oasbs Gy ey
(29r/16) wres

40 Two asterisks indicate that the part of a word is illegible. Three asterisks mean that
the part of the text for approximately one word is illegible. And the text between
square brackets shows my restoration of the preceeding word.
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haab o o wd ole jay e ol Oles had g & ws ole jun Lo ol 0l
s plp 0 S FF a e ad e o Wb a s b a
UL Sy 4f & aasep al (gl (27v/19) 035 J& & sl

Oyeae (o 5 My by 08 Jo &5
ol Dax i ple o2 ol jls
W adley Lo 42 o7 aals p xx gy
(40v/3-6) 055 Jl&

Wols 3 ol o [0 a] olel ol (29v/1) 55 Kalys 5ol3 ol n O
O R s Nad WX s (lisa O
Fs5 50 &8 el 0338 (e 035 1l (‘flj
Lo D> 2, )k @l (g 395 290 Ol
iy e gl [O92] O 55 Wy ¢ -
o a ol o [ewdh] cadr s,
(43v/5-7) 55 xales aals

It is true that cases of insertional variants occur much more frequently
in the A ms. than in the R ms. However insertion and deletion are not
unilateral, as the above third case shows. This fact is additional evidence in
favor of our supposition of distinctive lines for the A ms. and the R and Bl
mss.

The next problem is, then, the superiority of one of the two manuscripts
to the other from the point of view of text transmission. However, the su-
periority of one manuscript to the other can not, in theory, be deduced by
textual collation. Therefore we have to consider the manuscripts, taking into
account the historical or grammatical correctness of the texts. It is true that
such criteria are not intrinsic to the authenticity of texts, but if there are
a number of good strong cases, then correctness could serve as secondary
evidence to reveal our base manuscript.

Perusing the text, we find improper variants of the like in the R ms. as
well as the A ms. Let us refer to the following as an example from the latter.
This passage shows a historical error found in the A ms., which is not found
in the R ms.
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A R

i Ol wlee O3 L W1 5 (31-‘ ol Hlojde e M L W1 )5
el Cogds Ol g s Olak 5 Joas] 850l cogds ol g s olalu
(52v/13-14) 33 Ko | oS (34r/21-34v/1) 35 Ko

The text surrounding this passage records the conflict between two fac-
tions: that of Akbar’s son, Salim and his grandson, Husraw. Here, we find
that the A ms. wrongly mentions Sah Isma‘ll instead of Sah Salim as in the
R ms.

Nevertheless, the cases are much less frequent in the A ms., while the
cases found in the R ms. are much more serious. In the analysis of the R
ms., we mentioned the errors in the Persian, Mongolian and Turkic words
S, C..I'a.cl, Sy 3“‘\:‘?’ 5985, B3, The correct forms of these words
found in the A ms. give evidence to the superiority of the A ms. to the R
ms.

Many examples of a specific form of conjugation are found in the R ms.,
as follows:

A R

(7r/15) awlase Ay W (5v/6) Al Ay W

Al oslp s el b i W all el e el ol W
(31v/10) (19r/15)

I do not know of such use of the third person plural for the honorific
second person singular in other Indo-Persian writings.

Misquotation of the Qur’an (stra ii,156) in the R ms. cannot be at-
tributed to Asad Big, who had a Perso-Islamic intellectual origin. If so, the
error is caused by a clerical error.

A R
Moreover, the following case shows the contextual superiority of the A
ms. to the R ms.:

A R
ey O Sl oeb oY o 6 s 5l g ol legd ovl oY ol 6 s
Sy a8 g oag gl O S ol s ol WK s oy
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ollgt obae 51wl aad o o (18v/6-7) 4 osliag) U 20 51 wsl Leomo
(25v/8-10)

The mention of five persons in the A ms. is much more logical than
the description found in the R ms., which fails to refer to the second person
Ol _as ‘Anbar Han.

These examples lead us to conclude the superiority of the A ms. to the
R ms. from the viewpoint of historical and grammatical authenticity. And
with this conclusion, we have a secondary reason to think that the A ms. is
superior to the R ms. in the textual transmission.

If our conclusion is correct, we now find it possible to explain one of the
variants found in the A ms. and the R ms. The R ms. uses kuriih oq ; 1 asa
measure of distance instead of gaw j(found in the A ms. *? The term gaw is
very rare in Indo-Muslim literature composed in Northern India during that
period. This is a measure of distance predominantly used in Southern India.
The form of gau, noted by Della Valle, who traveled along the Malabar coast
in 1623, must be a transcription of the term.** Dictionaries of both old and
modern Marathi both contain the term.**

The special use of the term in Southern India explains this variant. Asad
Big must have heard the word during his travels and recorded his itinerary
faithfully using this measure. However the scribe of the R ms., while copying
the text in Agrah of Northern India, did not know this measure of distance
and changed it into a more understandable word. As the A ms. uses not only
gaw but also kurtih *° as measures of distance, it is not possible to suppose
the reverse theory that the scribe of the A ms., who was supposed to have
transcribed in Deccan, standardized the form of kuriih to that of gaw.

Thus we should recognize the A ms. as superior to the R ms. although
the former contains a greater number of physical defects.

However the A ms. is only relatively adequate as a base manuscript for
our study on account of the secondary reasons.

41 R ms., 12v/7, 13v/16, 22r/7

42 AAB, 17r/4, 18v/9, 29v/8

43 Gai or gau, as quoted in [Dalgado (1919-21)],i,440. See also Della Valle, ii, 230, 294
(“one Gau consists of two Cos, and is equivalent to two Portugal Leagues”), 295, 296

44 gawa: [Tulpule & Feldhaus (1999)],201a-b; gaw: Molesworth, 244b. Platts mentions
the word gaw as a usage of Dakhni Urdu ([Platts (1884)],921a). See also [Deloche
(1968)], 78.

45 6r/4, 16r/3, 24r/10, 251/3, 44v/10



MASHITA HIROYUKI

We should keep in mind that, although it may be an inferior manuscript,
the R ms. should be located at an equal level in the lineage of the manuscripts
as the A ms. Therefore, there is yet room for, according to the R ms.,
modifying improper passages found in the A ms.

The above analysis leads us to a framework in which to reconstruct the
text, as follows. First, we must use the A ms. as a base manuscript; second,
we have to fill up the minor physical lacunae of the A ms. according to the
R ms., as far as the treatment is textually acceptable; third, we may fill up
the physical lacunae with blank space, in case the authenticity of the text
of the R ms. for the parts is not guaranteed; fourth, we must modify the
historically or grammatically obvious mistakes of the A ms. according to the
R ms., as far as the treatment is textually reasonable; and fifth, we add the
titles of the chapters, which the A ms. does not bear, in accordance with the
R ms. For the last three treatments, we have to provide annotations.

4. Historical criticism

This chapter deals with considerations on the original title of the memoirs
and the date of its completion, while also analyzing its contents and historical
value in comparison with contemporary sources.

4.1. Title

While the author does not mention a title of his own memoirs, the scribes
of the manuscripts and modern scholars have provided various titles for the
work.

[Storey (1927-39)] mentions the memoirs under the title of (Halat-i Asad
Beég) or (Ahwal-i Asad Beg) in parentheses, which might indicate that they
were meant to be taken tentatively. The former is found in a note on the
title leaf of the collective manuscript to which the B2 ms. belongs. The
latter appears in a note on the flyleaf of the first work contained in the
former collective manuscript to which the R ms. had belonged,*® and in the
colophon of the B1 ms. Rieu applied the latter title. The older handlist of the
late nineteenth century and the other handlist of the Rampur Raza Library
recently published in a facsimile form ([HanS (1995)]) refer to the memoirs
under the title of Tarih-i Asad Big. A slight variation of this is Risalah-i

46 The note adds the author’s nisbah to the title as Ahwal-i Asad Big Qazwint

76



A historiographical study of the so-called Ahwal-i Asad Big

Tarip-i Asad Big as it appears in a note on the flyleaf of the B1 ms. On the
other hand, an endorsement on the A ms. calls the memoirs Sawanih-i Asadz.
All the titles are noted in manuscripts of the later period, therefore we should
not suppose one of them to be the original title. The other titles, Wikdya-
¢ Asad Beg by E&D, Wagq‘ea-i-Asad Beg by Joshi, and Tarikh-i-Moghul by
[AhmadMA (1941)], do not seem to be based on any grounds, and in as much,
should be regarded as modern inventions by scholars. However, despite the
abundance of possibilities, there is no evidence to clarify the original title.
This study follows Storey and Rieu as a tentative option, applying the title
of Ahwal-i Asad Big in my system of transliteration.

4.2. Date of its completion

As we saw above, none of the contemporary sources mentions AAB. Therefore
we have to look for internal evidence to specify the date of its completion.

The first evidence is the standardization of the place name of the site
of Akbar’s mausoleum. It is called, in AAB, Bihistabad (AAB, 54v/17). In
the early years of Gahangir, the site was called Sikandrah as it is today, al-
though its first appearance in the sources is yet to be established (JN,31).
The first appearance of Bihistabad is in the account of Gahangir’s visit to
the mausoleum in Sep. 1613 (JN,141). The mention of the mausoleum as
Bihistabad in the inscription dated 1022 AH (1613/4) on the northern face
of the southern gateway of the mausoleum indirectly supports the date.*
On his previous visit in Oct. 1608, Gahangir had been dissatisfied with the
construction of his father’s tomb, already requiring three or four years, and
ordered it to be redesigned in some places. Both William Hawkins, who must
have seen the construction between 1609 and 1611, and William Finch, who
must have visited the site between 1610 and 1611, reported the ongoing con-
struction (Hawkins, 120-1; Finch,186-7). Therefore it is reasonable to think
that around 1613 the construction work of the complex reached a certain
stage, and as a result of the progress, the site of Sikandrah was given its
name as a befitting title*® for the sepulcher of the last emperor.*®

47 [Smith (1909)], 32

48 Bihistabad means “city of Paradise”.

4 Hawkins estimated the term of construction at seven years. This prevents us from
thinking that the year of 1613 marks the conclusion of the construction (Hawkins, 120).
The statement of Mundy, who probably visited the site in 1632, that “the garden and
the other gates were not yett finished” supports Hawkins’ estimate (Mundy, ii, 211).
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Thus the use of the name of Bihistabad in AAB leads us to suppose the
upper limit of its dating as 1613. The wide use of the name after the date
is evidenced by the nearly contemporary information in Kroniek of Pelsaert
(Pelsaert K, 122 (Bestibaed), 225 (Bistabaed)).

The date is also supported by other evidence. Asad Big, in his memoirs,
mentions Naqgib Han as deceased (marhtimi Naqib Han (AAB, 9r/9). As a
matter of historical fact, Naqib Han died in May 1614 (JN, 150). Therefore
the completion of the memoirs could not extend back beyond this date. Thus
we may safely say that the memoirs were compiled in or after 1614.

On the other hand, we may surmise the upper limit of its completion
on the basis of the mention of Han-i Hanan twice in the memoirs. The
invocations for Han-i Hanan show that the latter was alive at that time:
“May the exalted Lord protect from all the misfortunes that [person as a]
source of generosity and liberality and that [person as an] origin of loyalists.
And may He [the exalted Lord] allow him to accomplish and obtain his wishes
in the present and future life (darayn)” (49r/12-13); “May the exalted God
allow him to obtain his wishes” (32r/13). The tenor of the optative sentences
should be directed only to a living person. Therefore at the compilation of
the memoirs, Han-i Hanan was still alive. Since Han-i Hanan died in 1627,5°
the compilation cannot be subsequent to this date.

If our chronology is admitted, we now may judge the authenticity of
the imperial capital place name variants, namely Agrah in the A ms. and
Akbarabad in the R and B1 mss.

As far as I know, none of the sources written during Akbar’s and
Gahangir’s reigns including the European sources uses the name of Ak-
barabad for Agrah. According to the narration in BNL, the renaming of
the capital city from Agrah to Akbarabad was first hit upon by Akbar and
was actually brought about just after Sah Gahan’s accession (BNL,i,155-6).
However, neither the sources from Akbar’s time nor those from Gahangir’s
reign refer to the plan.

Moreover, numismatic evidence rejects the use of Akbarabad before Sah
Gahan. Wright and Whitehead agree that the name of Akbarabad for the

As Foster notes, the buildings other than the mausoleum and the south gate were
probably completed after some years (Hawkins, 120, n.2).

50 INJ, 287 (BI); MJ,473-4. Both of the sources place his death in the twenty-first regnal
year of Gahangir (Mar. 1626 - Mar. 1627). MJ specifies the time of his death as the
middle of 1036 AH, which begins in Sep. 1626. Therefore the death should fall at the
end of the regnal year.
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site of a mint is first observed in 1038 AH.’' As far as I know, the earliest
known example of the mint is a silver coin issued in the month of Urdibihist
of the year of 1038 AH.*? The higri year began on Aug. 31, 1628 and the
solar month basically begins late in April. Therefore the coin must have been
struck in April/May of 1629. On the other hand, there is a gold coin bearing
the name of Agrah issued in 1038 AH bearing the mark of the first regnal
year.®® As the first regnal year of Sah Gahan covers the period from JumlII.
8, 1037 AH to Jumll. 1, 1038 AH (Jan. 26, 1629), we can deduce that the
change in the city name fell between the end of January and the end of April
of 1629. We can safely say that the name of Akbarabad became used only
after Sah Gahan’s accession.

We can not say anything about Akbar’s intentions as reported in BNL.
However a reference to the intentions of the emperor’s late grandfather must
have given him a reasonable motive to rename the city Akbarabad and not
Gahangirabad or Salimabad after his father, whom he revolted against during
his princedom. Nonetheless, the forced link between the renaming and the
great grandfather of the new emperor has in later times resulted in some
ahistorical explanations concerning the origin of the new name. Bernier, in
his memoirs, says that the city of Agrah was built and named Akbarabad
by Akbar (Bernier, 284). The explanation found in Hadigat al-Agalim of
late eighteenth century Northern India that Agrah was named Akbarabad
in the reign of Akbar (HA, 161) reflects the spread of this anachronistic
understanding.

Since the name of Akbarabad could not have occurred before the accession
of Sah Gahan (1628), the original text, which was completed by 1627, could
not have born this new name. Therefore we should conclude that the variant
of Akbarabad witnessed in the R and B1 mss. can not be found in the original.
They are the results of standardization by later scribe(s). This conclusion
strengthens our theory of the superiority of the A ms. to the R and B1 mss.

A collection of copies of Mughal edicts to foreigners, especially to English-
men ([Sachau & Ethé (1889)], no. 267), seems at the first sight to give evi-
dence rebutting our conclusions. One of the copies of the edicts of Gahangir’s
reign, bears the date of the 29th of Ramadan in the 22nd year of his reign,
1035 AH. that falls on Jun. 24, 1626 (f.17v). The edict orders the officials on

51 [Wright (1908)],xvii; [Whitehead (1934)], xIvii.
52 [Rode (1969)], 96, no. 561 / 5167.
53 [Whitehead (1934)], 173, no. 1213.
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route to Strat from the capital city of Akbarabad (dar al-hilafat Akbarabad)
to exempt Englishmen (angrizan).

However the text is, I believe, not authentic. This is because the collection
contains edicts not only by Gahangir but also by later emperors, namely Sah
Gahan, Awrangzib, Bahadur Sah and so on. Therefore it is likely that the
occurrence of Akbarabad in the edict is the result of standardization by a
scribe of a later period. Otherwise, we should hold the copy to be a later
fabrication.

Thus we can fix the date of the completion of the memoirs between 1614
and 1627. This conclusion does not contradict our two choices for the date
of our author’s death (1620/1 or 1631/2).

This date would explain Asad Big’s circumstances during the time of his
writing. The memoirs were written at least nearly ten years after the events
described, by our obscure administrator/Persian poet, who may have been
disfavorably received under Gahangir’s regime.

4.3. The contents and historical value of the memoirs
4.3.1. Outline of the memoirs

First of all, we shall take a look at the outline of the text, which has never
been furnished by previous scholars. The folio numbers follow those of the A
ms. The titles of the chapters in italic letters are based on the rubric entries
found in the R ms.

0lv
Beginning of the text. Account of the murder of Abd al-Fadl
by Bar Singh Diw.
06v  Account of the preparation of the humble one [the author, Asad
Big/ to enter the presence of His Exalted Haqani Highness.
Arrival of Asad Big at court. Akbar’s censure of Asad for
murder. Intercession by Han-i A‘zam and the pardoning of
Asad.
10v  Account of the appointment of the humble one to [be sent] to the
army of Ray Rayan in order to inquire about the negligence of
Amars.
Escape of Bar Singh Diw from the fort of Ira¢, which was
besieged by the imperial army led by Ray-i Rayan. Dispatch
of Asad Big to inspect the mistake.
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20r

27v

32v

39r

49r

51r
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Appointment of the humble one to Dakhan to bring back Mir
Gamal al-Din Husayn.
The delay in return of Mir. Arrival of Asad at Burhanpir.
Asad’s interview of Asad with Malik ‘Anbar at Bir on the
way to Bigapiir. Asad’s meeting with Gamal al-Din in Man-
galbirah.
The humble one’s visit to Bijapur and the interview with ‘Adil
Han.
Departure to Bigapir. Interview with ‘Adil Han on Shab. 17,
[1012 AH] (Jan. 20, 1604). Description of the city and the fort
of Bigapiir. Sast-i muridi of Asad. Departure from Bigapir on
Ram. 2, [1012 AH](Feb. 3, 1604).
The return from Bigapur.
Joining Gamal al-Din in Mangalbirah. Encounter with ‘Inayat
Allah dispatched by Akbar. Arrival in Ahmadnagar.
The departure of the humble one from the presence of Prince
Daniyal.
Arrival in Burhanpiir. Asad’s serious fever on the way to
Agrah. Audience with Akbar. Asad’s tonsure while mourning
over the death of the Queen Mother. Presentation of rarities
brought from Bigapir. Tobacco (tanbaki) and pipe of A&n.
Asad’s dispute with Hakim ‘Ali about smoking. Increase of
Asad’s mansab. Taking over the duties of Hwagah Amin al-
Din to remain at this post for about one year.
Coming of the news of the death of Prince Daniyal.
The news of the death of Daniyal. Akbar decided to dispatch
Asad to the four regions of Deccan. Arrival of Asad in Ugayn.
The news of the death of Akbar. Confusion of Asad’s party.
Arrival in Burhanpiir. Banquet with Mirza Rustam. Meeting
with Han-i Hanan. The festival of Diwali (Nov. 11, 1605).
Arrival of the farman of Gahangir and recall of the humble one
without paying any attention and regard.
Circumstances of the recall. Gahangir’s resentment of Asad.
Audience with Gahangir in Agrah and his pardon with the
intercession of Sarif Han.
The circumstances of the demise of the heaven-nestling His High-
ness and those related to that.
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Recollection of the arrival of the news of Akbar’s death. The
last days of Akbar: anomaly in Akbar’s health; Han-i A‘zam
and Man Singh support Husraw as the succeeding emperor;
objection by some amirs in favor of Salim; Salim’s audience
with Akbar; Death and burial of Akbar.

55v  Account of the enthronement of His Highness Nur al-Din

Muhammad Gahangir Badsah on the ancestral throme.

“Chain of Justice” (zangir-i ‘adalat). Arrival of Mahabat Han
and Sarif Han.

561
Concluding eight couplets.

4.3.2. Characteristics of the content

The contents of the Asad Big’s writing clearly show us his inclination. He
broadly records only five events of a period covering four years. In other
words, his writing is characterized by descriptions based on the author’s own
knowledge and/or observations, which focuses mostly on the author’s per-
sonal activities. In this sense, there is no obstacle to our qualifying, as done
by previous studies, his writing as a memoir and not as a history. This ex-
plains the fact that AAB does not give as comprehensive an account of events
as other chronicles.

On the other hand, as memoirs the text does give quite detailed and vivid
account of the events occurring around the author. The accounts provide an
abundance of helpful information not only for reconstructing historical events
but also for considering social aspects of the period.

For example, his graphic description of Bijapur is notable: the festival
at Sab-i barat and the fireworks; Asad’s accommodations and the bazar; the
fort and the palace of Bigaptr.**

And his first-hand observations concerning the Persian language of
Ibrahtm ‘Adil Han, the Sultan of the Bigapir kingdom, provides quite sug-
gestive information about the language life of the Deccan literati.

And I began [delivering] the message and the matters. I informed him [‘Adil
Han] of all of what His Exalted Majesty had said from beginning to end. And he
understood Persian well, but he could not reply [in kind]. His speaking [in Persian]
was a little broken (AAB,22v/1-2).

5 AAB, 20v/14-21r/11; 24r/6-24v/10; 25r/3-25v/17 and 31r/1-8 (The original 26th folio
is mispaged as the 31st folio.).

82



A historiographical study of the so-called Ahwal-i Asad Big

However, according to Firistah, in 1003 AH (1594-5), when Sah Nawaz
Han, an Iranian immigrant from Siraz, was conferred “the office of adminis-
trative affairs”, all the reports were read by the king in person. He shortly
got so acquainted with reading that he could read even corrupted scripts
(battha-yi magsas) without any help. Books both in verse and in prose were
brought to his assembly. He studied the books and became a Persian reader
(farst hwan). He spoke Persian so well that he did not speak in “Hindustant.
Those, who knew [only] a language other than Persian, could not under-
stand [what he said]” (GI,ii,154-6z). If his Persian language ability had not
deteriorated, the two accounts may partly contradict each other.?®

The Sultan ordered ZuhiirT and Malik QummT to prepare a Persian trans-
lation of the Kitab-i Nawras, his collection of Indian songs in the Dakhni
language, which was completed in the year of 1597 to 1599, that is, after his
alleged improvement in Persian.’® In addition to this, the two Persian poets
separately composed introductions to the collection in Persian.’” These facts
may reflect the Sultan’s actual ability in the language. If this was the case,
Firistah’s statement can be taken as flattery to his master Sultan, who had
reportedly attained admirable improvement with the higher language.

In any case, it is clear from these narrations that the Sultan of Bigapir
and the Iranian immigrant Asad Big did communicate in Persian, if not in
a perfect way. This fact does not contradict the higher prestige of Persian
in pre-modern Indian courtly and administrative life, as established again by

55 On this point, see [AhmadN (1956)], 12, n.1.

¢ For the date of the completion of the Kitab-i Nawras, see [AhmadN (1956)], 56-7.
[AhmadN (1956)] is not inclined to identify the Persian translation by Zuhiiri and
Qummi with the Persian translation in prose contained in a manuscript preserved in
the Khuda Bakhsh Library ([AhmadN (1956)], 60). An edition both in Arabic and
Devanagari scripts along with an English translation have been published as [AhmadN
(1956)].

Zuhur?’s introduction is contained in his collective work Sih Natr-i Zuhuri, while
QummT’s is included in his Kulliyat. See [AhmadN (1956)], 58-9. [AhmadN (1956)]
does not pay any attention to the narration of TAAA, which reports the joint compo-
sition of the Kitdb-i Nawras by the two poets. Each of them reportedly composed four
hundred and fifty couplets in the Sultan’s name to complete a work titled the Kitab-
1 Nawras comprising nine hundred couplets. They received nine thousand riipiyyah
from the Sultan (TAAA,1069). It is hardly likely that they composed in the Dakhni
language as we find in the present form of the Kitab-i Nawras. Their joint work may
possibly be identical with the Persian translation from the Dakhni original referred to
above.

57
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recent studies on Iranian elements in Islamic India.®®

At the same time, the existence of the Kitab-i Nawras gives evidence for
his proficiency in the Dakhni language. In addition, Asad Big says that ‘Adil
Han spoke to his courtier in “the language of Maratha (zaban-i marathah)”
(AAB, 21v/15, 23v/7). If that language is identical with modern Marathi
and not with modern Dakhni, the Sultan used at least three languages in his
daily life.*®

As a result of such detailed accounts, Asad Big provides us with indepen-
dent information, which is not found in other sources.

From this viewpoint, the account of the introduction of tobacco to Akbar’s
court is very important. It is the earliest known literary evidence of its use
in South Asia.®® It gives us valuable suggestions about not only the method

%8 For example, see [Aubin (1991)]; [Robinson (1991)]; [KhanMA (1992)]; [Subrah-
manyam (1992)]; [Shakeb (1995)]; [Haneda (1997)]; [Alam (1998)]; [Losensky (1998)];
[Alam & Subrahmanyam (1999)]; [Guléin Ma‘ani (1369 Sh)]; [Barzegar (2000)]; [Kondo
(2000)]; [Shakeb (2000)].

59 Although there is not any literary evidence, circumstantial conditions permit us to
suppose the use of a Turkic language in the Deccan court. For a general discussion
on this problem, see [Schimmel (1981)]. As for the Sultans of Deccan, the Bahmanids
Mugahid (1375-1378) and Tag al-Din Firtiz (1397-1422) are reported to speak a Tur-
kic language (zaban-i Turkt: GL,i,564; [Hollister (1953)], 106; [Sherwani (1953)], 146;
[Schimmel (1981)], 157). In the sources, we can observe many references to the sup-
ply of the Turkic slaves (gulam-i atrak) into the Deccan kingdoms, of which the most
distinct example is the progenitor of ‘Adil Sahi dynasty, Yasuf ‘Adil Sah. From the
fanciful story of his descent from the Ottoman dynasty as a son of Murad II (GI,ii,1ff.)
and the other story of his maternal relation to Qara Qoyunlu dynasty (TM,19r ff.),
as well as a slightly different variation found in the Futahat-i ‘Adil Sahz, we can ex-
tract the following common elements concerning his origin: he is Turkish in a wide
sense; his distress at the early age; and his migration as a slave soldier to Deccan by
sea route through the hands of a slave merchant. For the narration of the Futahat
on the pedigree of the dynasty, see [Joshi & Nadeem (1979)]. We find references to
the Turkish immigrants to Deccan as “gente branca” in the Portuguese sources of the
sixteenth century. For a short but important remark on the migration, see [Aubin
(1973)], pp.175f. A glossary attached to a treatise of hunting and fishing, which was
written at the order of Sultan Muhammad of Qutbsahids, the neighboring kingdom to
Bigapir, contains Arabic, Persian, Turkic and Dakhni names of animals. See [Schim-
mel (1981)], 157, [Ethé (1937)], 29-30, no. 3055. The existence of such a work may
reflect the current use of Turkic in the Deccanid states.

50 [Gokhale (1975)], acknowledging the narration of AAB, says “if the crop was important
enough to be noticed by 1605 it must have been first introduced at least by 1595, if
not earlier” ([Gokhale (1975)], 485). I have no idea whether the period of ten years for
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of its use (smoking with a pipe (hugqah), while not chewing or snuffing) but

diffusion is fair or not.

Evidence in support of the use of tobacco in South Asia earlier than Asad Big’s
mission exists. According to [Matthee (EI2)], a commentary to the Mina Bazar reports
of the year of 914 AH. (1508/9) as the date of the introduction of tobacco in India.
I have not seen the printed edition of the commentary. However, I found a marginal
note of an edition of the Mind Bazar, which contains the same date as follows, “The
author of Dard Sukihi writes that it [tobacco] came to Hindiistan around the year of
nine hundred and fourteenth of higri in the end of the reign of Galal al-Din Akbar
Padsah from the part of Farang and now it is well-known everywhere” (MB,31, note
16). This note may be identical with that mentioned by [Matthee (EI2)]. I have
no idea concerning the work named Darg Sukihi. At any event, the date of 914 in
the commentary does not historically agree with the end of the reign of Akbar, who
ruled from 966 to 1014 AH. Therefore we should reserve making conclusions before
establishing the authenticity of Matthee’s evidence. [Floor (EIr)], based on [Elgood
(1970)], refers to a Persian physician in India, Abtu al-Fath Gilani as a the first to
pass the smoke of tobacco through a bowl of water to purify and cool it ([Floor (EIr)],
258; [Elgood (1970)], 41). The physician arrived at Akbar’s court in the 21st regnal
year (1575-6) and died in the journey from Kadmir on 7.Sahriwar of the 34th regnal
year, or on Thursday of Shaw. 19, 997 / Aug. 31, 1589 (IAF,i,44; AN,iii,560). If the
information is authentic, it is the earliest known reference to the use of tobacco in South
Asia. However, as [Elgood (1970)] does not give its source, we are not confident as to
its authenticity. Otherwise his supposed invention of hookah at so early a time can not
be fairly positioned within the historical conditions as evidenced by our information
above. On the other hand, there is a couplet by Ahli Sirazi, who was active in Iran and
died in 942 / 1535-6, containing a reference to tobacco. If this couplet is genuine, the
arrival of tobacco in Iran should be traced back. The date may require reconsidering
that of Southern India. However, literary records of not only South Asia but also of
Turkey and even of Persia do not date back to such an early year. Therefore we should
hesitate to acknowledge the authenticity of the couplet.

For tobacco in Bijapur, Zuhtirl, who was an immigrant from Persia and entered the
service of Ibrahim ‘Adil Sah about 1004 AH/1596 and died there in 1024 AH/1615-6
or 1025 AH/1616-7, mentions a tobacco seller in the description of the market of the
capital city in his prose work, the Ming Bazar (MB,31-36). However that does not
document the existence of tobacco there in his days. Because the Mina Bazar is likely
attributed to a later writer ([Losensky EIZ2], xi, 566b).

Johan van Twist, who traveled to Bigapir in 1637, disembarking in Dabhol, does
not mention the use of tobacco. On the other hand, tax on tobacco existed at least
in the late forties of the seventeenth century in a district of the kingdom ([Suehiro
(2001)], 379). A decree of Muhammad ‘Adil Sah (1626-56) seems to have referred to a
sort of tax on tobacco ([Ghauri (1970)], 102-3).

By not later than the second decade of the seventeenth century, tobacco seems to
have widely spread in India. In 1611, the English fleet led by Nichoals Downton received
two “Bannians” from Surat, who brought tobacco to sell to them (Purchas,iii,256).
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also the course of its diffusion into South Asia. His account may reflect the
fact that tobacco was first introduced to Southern India then spread to the
Northern India. Moreover, the discussion given in AAB between Asad Big
and a court physician in front of Akbar, who in Asad’s favor decided to try
tobacco, is remarkable evidence of the social response to a newly brought
thing from the so-called New World.

As for the arrival of tobacco into South Asia, AAB gives implicit infor-
mation. It informs us of Han-i A‘zam’s account of the earlier arrival and
widespread use of tobacco in Makkah and Madimah. When the weed was
presented to Akbar, Han-i A‘zam spoke to the emperor about it, saying that
it was popular in the two cities (AAB, 36v/8). Han-i A‘zam had stayed there
for hagg approximately from 1593 to 1594 (AN,iii,638-9, 654, 655). This cir-
cumstantial evidence permits us to imagine an eastward route of diffusion of
tobacco to South Asia.®!

In 1613, the English tried to procure tobacco in the suburb of Surat with help of
an English mariner who had skill in growing tobacco (LR, i, 299-300, 304). These
accounts reflect the tobacco cultivation in the western part of India at that time.
The practice of smoking tobacco seems to spread rapidly to Northern India under the
Mughal domination. In 1617, Gahangir placed a ban on the use of tobacco (JN,211).
On the occasion, however, Han-i ‘Alam could not restrain himself from smoking. For
his smoking on his mission to Sah ‘Abbas SafawT at the latter’s court, see Falsafi, i &
ii, 658-659. Terry, who traveled in the northern and western parts of India from 1616
to 1619, observed the abundant cultivation of tobacco (Terry, 299). A VOC record of
the year of 1623 tells about private trade of English factors of Surat, which is planned
to export products including tobacco to Persia ([Om Prakash (1984)], 286). In the
same year, the Portuguese assigned contracts for the territories of Goa, Salcete and
Bardes for each certain annual contractual amount ([Nardi (1989)], 165-6). Some of the
Portuguese domains in the western coast of India (Daméao, Bagaim, Chaul, Goa and
50 on) were estimated in the 1630’s to have taken a certain amount of their revenues
in tobacco (Bocarro, ii, 89, 110, 125, 158-9. For the older edition of Bocarro, see APO
(Nova edigao), Tome IV, Vol. II, Parte I, pp. 140, 178, 203, 267-268). For the eastern
coast of India, Methwold, who stayed from 1618 to 1622 in Masulipatnam, observed
the export of tobacco westward to Mocha and eastward to Arakan (Methwold, 36-
8). A VOC record of the year of 1623 tells about arrest of a Dutch factor by the
Golconda authority on a charge of smuggling out tobacco to Arakan ([Om Prakash
(1984)], 276-6). For the English export of tobacco from India, see [Gokhale (1975)],
488fT.

61 If [Matthee (EI2)]’s view that the people of the southern shores of the Arabian penin-
sula were familiar with tobacco in the 1590s is true ([Matthee (EI2)},x,753b), it is
possible that he had observed its use there in person, meaning that the testimony of
Han-i A‘zam can be considered historical. It would be significant to point out the ac-
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On the other hand, Asad Big qualifies the weed brought to Akbar as
of A¢n, Aceh of I. Sumatra (tanbaki-yi a‘la-yi A¢t (AAB, 36v/2)). This
passage leads us to think that tobacco (at least, the particular weed brought
to Akbar) was brought westward to South Asia from Southeast Asia. In
another place, Asad Big refers to a chintz from the place of MGATBN (yol2
used for canopies (§amiyanah) found at Malik ‘Anbar’s place in Balagat on
his way to Bigaptr (AAB, 17v/7). If we can read the place name *Magélipatan
Uil for Masulipatnam,® the inflow of the product from the port city of the
Coromandel coast, which had prosperous trade with Southeast Asia at that
time, should be a supporting condition for this view. That reasonably accords
with the known history of tobacco in Southeast Asia.®® Due to the shortage
of evidence, we are not now in a position to draw any conclusions concerning
this problem.

For another example of information not mentioned in sources other than
AAB, we can refer to the arrival of the envoy from Malik Barid at Akbar
(AAB, 40r). The sources record only the arrival of the envoy from Qutb
Sah, to which AAB does not refer.®® Asad Big thereafter left the court
for the four provinces of Deccan, namely “Bigapir, Gulkundah, Bidar and
Karnatak” (AAB, 40r/3), in which both the realm of Malik Barid and that of
Qutb Sah are included in accounts. The difference does not necessarily imply
a contradiction. We could consider the dispatch of Asad Big as a result of,
at least, the two missions from Dekhan rulers. At any rate, we should regard
the passage as an important anecdote on Mughal diplomacy of those days.

As another example, AAB describes the quarrel between the factions of
Sah Salim (later Gahangir) and Sultan Husraw (Salim’s son) because of an
elephant fight at the imperial inspection in the last days of Akbar, which
provoked the emperor’s anger and caused his physical condition to worsen.®

count in a Yemenite chronicle written during the reing of ‘Utman (1618-1622), which
refers to the arrival of tobacco in Yemen in the beginning of the year of 1013 AH /
1604-5 (IY, 70).

52 The R and B1 mss. read the word machli bandar, which has the same meaning as

Machipatan (R, 13r/3; B1, 17/11).

Tobacco seems to have been brought from Mexico to the Philippines by the Spaniards

around 1575. A Java chronicle sets its arrival in Central Java in the Saka year 1523

(1601/2) ([Reid (1985)], 535). These dates do not exclude our second alternative.

64 INJ, 509; TAN1,838; TAN2,672.

 The A ms. has Sah Isma‘il (52v/13-4) for Sah Salim as in the R and B1 mss. The text
of Isma‘il is not acceptable as we saw above.

63
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This information is important because it foreshadows the coming strife
between the two factions in the early days of Gahangir. However our sources,
with the exception of MJ, do not mention this event. MJ, which was com-
pleted in the early part of Sah Gahan’s reign informs us of different details
from those of AAB. According to the latter, the match took place between
the royal elephant Cancal brought by Asad Big from Bigapir and Salim’s
elephant Giranbar. On the other hand, MJ tells that it was fought between
Giranbar and Husraw’s elephant Apriip. A royal elephant Ran Mathan was
prepared to intervene and pacify the fight (MJ, 47-8). AAB does not recount
the details of the quarrel, but MJ fully narrates the particulars of the event:
In the fight, Giranbar overwhelmed Apriip and Ran Mathan set out to pacify
the fight. Salim’s men tried to stop the intervention and threw stones and
clods of earth at the driver of the royal elephant. One of the stones hit the
keeper’s temple hard enough to draw blood. Husraw exaggeratedly reported
the affair to Akbar. Akbar sent his grandson Hurram (later Sah Gahan),
who was watching the fight sitting next to Akbar, to Salim to inquire about
the cause. The inquiry revealed that Salim did not participate in his men’s
misconduct and that Husraw had exaggerated the affairs. It is clear that
in MJ, the quarrel between the two factions is not directly reported. The
exaggerated report of Husraw would seem to reflect a kind of strain between
the two factions. As a historical work written during Sah Gahan’s reign,
the author seems to focus on the imperial grandson’s actions to control the
trouble.

For another example, the narrative of the plot of Han-i A‘zam and Ragah
Man Singh to put Husraw on the throne against Salim and its subsequent
failure contains important details about the supporters of the new regime,
not found in other sources. Almost all of the persons in support of Salim
mentioned in AAB are found in other sources to have been promoted after
the accession, as shown below. This fact also proves the historical accuracy
of the information in AAB.

As Asad Big was not present at the events of the last days of Akbar in
Agrah, his account must be based on some contemporary report, as in the
above mentioned case of the trouble at the elephant fight.

When Akbar’s condition got worse, Han-i A‘zam met with Ragah Man
Singh and agreed to support Sultan Husraw. They planned to arrest Salim
when he came for his usual visit with the emperor. When Salim approached
the court by boat, Mir Diya’ Qazwin informed him of their plot and Salim
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turned back without entering the court.’® After the failure of the plan, Han-i
A‘zam and Ragah Man Singh met with amirs to discuss the affairs. The
two claimed to support Husraw in obeyance with the emperor’s will, but
Sa‘ld Han, in support of Salim, raised an objection and Qili¢ Han sided
with Sa‘ld Han. A dispute broke out at the meeting.®” R&agah Ram Das
Kachwahah led his men to protect the treasury.®® Murtada Han left the fort
to return to his guard-house. Sayyids of Barhah and Mirza Sarif Mu‘tamad
Han agreed to support Salim. At Salim’s residence a hasty report arrived
that the enemy had installed Husraw as emperor and was planning to fire
cannons. Sayh Rukn al-Din Ruhilah advised Salim to wait and watch the
situation develop. At Salim’s residence Mu‘tamad Han, Qard Big Kurd,
Murtada Han and Sayyids of Barhah arrived one after another and people
came to pledge their allegiance to Salim.®® Toward the evening, Han-i A‘zam
came to submit to Salim and was warmly received, while on the other hand,
Ragah Man Singh accompanied Husraw to his residence and departed to
Bengal by boat.”® Salim entered the court with Murtada Han and other

66 AAB, 52v/17-53r/12. The plot for the confinement of the prince is not related in any
other sources. Mir Diya’ (or Mir Diya’ al-Din) was appointed to the rank of 1000 after
the accession of Salim (JN,15).

57 AAB, 53r/16-53v/8. Pelsaert K reports that the meeting was held in Han-i A‘zam’s
residence. It lists the nobles who were present at the meeting: Mortasa Chan [Murtada
Han], Sayet Chan [Sa‘id Han], Coulij Mamhet Chan [Qilig Muhammad Han], Radsia
Ram Daes [Ragah Ram Das], Radsia Mant Singh [Ragah Man Singh| (Pelsaert K,
113-4). Sa‘id Han was awarded with the governorship of Pangab just after Salim’s
enthronement (JN,8) and Qilig Han was appointed to the governor of the province of
Gugarat (JN,13).

68 AAB, 53v/9. This information agrees with that of Pelsaert K (Pelsaert K,114). Ram
Das was promoted from the rank of 2000 to 3000 after the accession of Salim (JN,13).

69 AAB, 53v/9-54r/8. ‘Al Asgar, one of the sayyid of Barhah was given the title of Sayf
Han (JN,19). I do not know why [Husain (1999)] specifies his rank as 3000 at this
time ([Husain (1999)], 111). Pelsaert K records only the submission of Murtada Han,
who was guarding the main gate (Pelsaert K, 114). Sayh Rukn al-Din was promoted
from the rank of 1500 to 3500 (JN,11) just after the accession. Murtada Han, that
is, Sayh Farid BubarT was appointed to Mir-i Bahsi and promoted from the rank of
4000 to 5000 (JN,9,13). As he received his title Murtada Han in 1606 (JN,40), AAB is
anachronistic when it uses the title in describing the events of the year 1605. The same
kind of anachronism is also true of Muhammad SarTf, the author of the supplement of
the emperor’s memoirs and of INJ, who received the title Mu‘tamad Han in the third
regnal year of Gahangir (MU,iii,431).

"0 AAB, 54r/10-13. This mainly agrees with Pelsaert K. The latter adds the submission of
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amirs and saw the dying emperor. Akbar ordered the honorary dress, the
royal sword and the turban be prepared for the prince. Then Akbar died.™
Summing up these accounts, AAB contains a consderable amount of in-
dependent information, which is not found in other sources. And we can gen-
erally regard such information as in accord with the historical context. The
above considerations lead us to the estimation that, as a historical source,
AAB includes content that is valuable, detailed and independent when com-
pared with other sources, although it is devoid of comprehensive narration.

4.3.3. Relations with other works

Let us proceed to the next stage, where we consider AAB’s relationship with
other sources. AAB does not mention any other works as its source. And
likewise, other contemporary sources do not refer to AAB as their source, as
we saw above. Therefore it is necessary for us to compare AAB’s accounts of
particular events with those of other sources and verify the accuracy.

For that purpose, we shall take up the case of the assassination of Aba
al-Fadl. This is due to the fact that almost all the sources contain accounts
about the event, which make it possible to discern relationships by comparing
accounts. We have to keep in mind the fact that Asad Big was not at the site
of the murder and the account must have been based on some other source.

Framework of the narration

In regard to the date of the event, AAB contains independent information.
It gives Rabl. 7, 1011 AH/Aug. 25, 1602, while three of the other sources
give Rabl. 1, 1011 AH/Aug. 19, 1605 (AAB,2r/6; INJ,487; TAN1,811;
TAN2,622).

A letter from Jerénimo Xavier in Agrah to Father Francisco de Vergara,
Rector of Damao, dated Aug. 24, 1604 reports the murder of Abu al-Fadl.™
If we trust the date of the letter, AAB’s date of the event must be ruled out.

Nabab Sayet Chan [Sa‘Td Han] and “his son” Coulij Mamhet Chan [Qilig Han] (Actually
he was not a son of Sa‘id Han). And the latter does not specify the destination of Sultan
Husraw (Pelsaert K, 114).

"' AAB,54r/14-54v/2. According to Pelsaert K, the death of Akbar precedes the above
dispute among the amirs. However other sources place the death after the troubles
(ZT, 248r-249v; DUP;iii,64-5).

™ Archivum Romanum Societatis Iesu, Goa 33 I, ff.77v-78. Mentioned in [Camps
(1957)],44.
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Here we have to draw attention to the consistency of the two dates with
the day of the week. Both the alternatives agree only in placing the day of
the week as Friday (AAB,4r/14-15). However, AAB’s higrT date actually falls
on Sunday, not Friday, while the other date lies on a Monday.

If we give prominence to the consistency of the day of the week, the true
date must fall on Rabl. 5, 1011 AH/Aug. 23, 1602.” If this is the case,
Xavier must have learned the news of the murder in Agrah within a day after
the event. It is possible that the information was, within a day, brought from
the site about 150 kilometers distant from the capital city. The murder of
the court magnate must have been reported promptly.

AAB’s account concerning the participation of Salim is unique compared
with other sources. As the prince himself relates in his memoirs, he ordered
Bar Singh Diw to kill Abi al-Fadl on his way to Agrah.” While other sources
state clearly that Salim ordered the murder, AAB does not clarify the par-
ticipation of the prince. It just reports the words of Bar Singh Diw to the
mortally wounded Abt al-Fadl, “His majesty the world-conqueror (hadrat-i
gahangniT) has called you for the sake of your favor™”.

Apart from the historical fact, the text does not testify concerning the
direct relationship between the murder and the prince.”® The narration of
GI, which reports this incident as a robbery of the Ragpfits, is out of the
question (GLi,516).

The itinerary of Abu al-Fadl varies from source to source. Many of the
sources begin their narration by specifying the site where Aba al-Fadl ar-
rived on his way from Deccan. AAB says that he first arrived in Siringah
(AAB,2r/16, 2v/3, 2v/11), where he left Asad Big to remain (AAB,2v/2-

78 MTS gives Rabl. 4, 1011 AH, the closest to this date (MTS,579a).

™ JN, 15. The text of the edition of JN, which I used, as well as that of the Aligarh
edition reads the killer’'s name as Nar Singh Diw, which I changed according to the
form of other sources (Aligarh ed.,10). For this treatment, see JNtr2, 33, n.47. JNtrl
gives the form Bir Singh without note (JNtrl, 24).

75 AAB,5r/15-16; Guerreiro,i,307; Pelsaert K, 107; INJ,486-487; TAN1,811.

76 Also TANZ2 is obscure about the prince’s order to Bar Singh, saying “Bar Sing (sic.)
Diw Bundilah, who, in those environs, has attained the honor of credibility by way of
his grandsires’ greatness and regarded the auspicious mind of His Imperial Highness
as more important than he [Abt al-Fadl?] (atwls o!5 451 The Rampur ms. includes
different text, which I did not follow Ols JQ 9 j.) and in order to show his own pure
intention, showed these signs of enmity and the hatred in the bosom was exposed on his
forehead,” (TAN2,622; British Library ms., IO 2853 (another manuscript of TAN2),
500v).
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4r/6), and reached Sara-yi Bar (AAB,4r/11), where he dismissed the report
of Bar Singh’s coming (AAB,4r/11-14) and was suddenly assaulted and killed
by the latter’s contingent (AAB,4v/5-5v/4). AAB’s mention to Siringah is
a unique narration, not found in any other sources. On the other hand, GI
simply places the site in the suburbs (hawala) of Narwar. INJ and TAN1
give a much more detailed narration. Both of the sources say that Abu al-
Fadl first arrived in Ugayn, neglected the advice of an attendant to follow
a different route by way of Ghati Canda and was attacked by the party of
Ragah Bar Singh Diw between Sara-yi Bar and Antart (GLi,516; INJ,487;
TAN1,811-2). Pelsaert K relates that Abt al-Fadl arrived in Calabaeg (Kala
Bag), passing the village of Zoor,”” and was attacked and killed by Radsia
Bert Sing Bondela (Ragah Bar Singh Bundilah). TAN2, without relating
the foregoing affairs, first mentions Sara-yi Bar, where Abu al-Fadl arrived
and attendants advised him to proceed to AntarT which he declined and was
attacked (Pelsaert K, 108; TAN2, 622).

On the other hand, the site of murder is placed by AAB in Sara-yi Bar,
while INJ and TAN1 placed it between Sara-yi Bar and Antart. TAN2 is
obscure with regard to the exact location. At any event, we can say that
all the narrations seem to indicate the same specific location with different
wordings, because the distance between Sara-yi Bar and AntarT must be less
than fifteen kilometers.™

In other words, the particular mention to Sirtingah and the different word-

™ 1 could not identify this place.

" The grounds for the distance of fifteen kilometers is as follows. Both Sara-yi Bar and
AntarT are situated on the route from Narwar to Gwaliyar, which was major at least in
the first half of the seventeenth century. Unfortunately I could not find the two places
on any of the maps available to me. Vogel, in his note for the journal of Ketelaar,
locates Sara-yi Bar as 25”759’ N.L., 78”11’ E.L. (Ketelaar, 256, n.7 for Bar ki saral.).
As for literary sources, John Jourdain, who traveled on this route in February, 1611,
left Nerva (Narwar) and proceeded to Autro (AntarT) by way of Gullica (7). Between
the last two “is a faire sarraye for travelours”, although he does not specify the name
of the place. From Aurto to Gullier (Gwaliyar) is “six coses” (Jourdain,152). Mundy,
who traveled in Dec.1630, left Nurware (Narwar) and proceeded to Burre Ka Sarae
(Bar ki Saray, a hindi form for Sara-yi Bar) by way of Pelacha. From the Sarae to
Gualleere (Gwaliyar) was “nine courses (=coses)” (Mundy,ii,59-60). Tavernier, who
traveled probably in 1640, left “Nader (Narwar) for Barqui-sera (Bar k1 Saray) 9 coss,
Barqui-sera to Trie (AntarT), 3 coss; Trie to Goudleor (Gwaliyar), 6 coss” (Tavernier,i,
51). Mundy and Tavernier agree in stating the distance from Sara-yi Bar to Guwaliyar
via Antri as nine coses. Therefore the distance of 3 coses between Sara-yi Bar and
AntarT can be trusted.
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ing concerning the site of the murder prove the independence of AAB’s infor-
mation from the others. This fact means that each account can not be pro-
duced by relying on other sources or by deducing and supplementing other
information.

Summing up the above three cases of the dates of murder, the partici-
pation of the prince and Aba al-Fadl’s itinerary, we can safely conclude that
AAB narrates the event in a totally different framework from those of other
sources.

Common details in the narration and differing points

It is true that we can find some cases in the details, where the account of
AAB coincides with that of other sources. For example, AAB refers to, as
Abii al-Fadl’s attendants, Gada’t Han Afgan, Galal Han, Salim Han, Sir Han,
Mansir Cabuq, Mirza Muhammad Qirbigi, HBA (?) Hass-bayl and Mirza
Muhsin Badahst. INJ and TAN1 agree with AAB, when they mention Gada’t
Han Afgan (INJ,487; TAN1,811).

For another example, concerning the fatal wounding of Abi al-Fadl, AAB
reports that “a ragpiit overtook him and the (ragpat’s) lance caught Sayh in
the back and went through his chest” (AAB,5r/6-7). INJ and TAN1 agree
on the lance as the fatal weapon. INJ reports that “Sayh received a lance
wound to his chest and tumbled back off his saddle onto the ground” (INJ,
487). Also on the point of being wounded in the chest, the information agrees
with AAB.

We can find interesting examples of commonality between AAB and Pel-
saert K. For example, according to AAB, when Abu al-Fadl was at Sara-yi
Bar on that Friday morning, the very day he was murdered, some people
arrived with cavalry, but Abt al-Fadl dismissed them and remained without
sufficient guard. Among these people, we find Sayh Mustafa, the fawgdar of
Kalabag (AAB,4r/17).

Reference to this person in this context is found only in Pelsaert K. Ac-
cording to the account, when Abdul Fasel (Abu al-Fadl) arrived at Calabaeg
(Kalabag), Sijdij Mostapha, the governor (gouverneur) of that place came
to see him with four hundred horsemen and accompanied him to the village
of Soor.”™ After a meal, they obtained leave from Abdul Fasel and returned
again to his place (Pelsaert K, 108). A variant of Pelsaert K reads the per-

™ It is most probably the same as Zoor above.
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son’s name as Tzeid Mortafa. The editors of and the translator of Pelsaert
K agree in reconstructing the original form as Sayyid Mustafa (Pelsaert K,
108, n.368; Pelsaert tr, 29). The form of Sijdij Mostapha may permit us to
guess the original form as S1di Mustafa. In any case, it is most probable that
Sijdij Mostapha in Pelsaert K is identical with Sayh Mustafa.

As another example, let us turn to the situation of the wounded Abi
al-Fadl just before he was killed with the sword. When Abu al-Fadl received
a lance wound and fell to the ground, his follower HBA Hassah Hayl took
him off the road. At the moment, the contingent of Bar Singh arrived at
the site and HBA hid himself behind a tree. When Bar Singh found Abi
al-Fadl’s horse, the elephant-keeper of Abi al-Fadl’s accompanying female
elephant pointed to his dying master, who was lying off the road. On the
other hand, Pelsaert K says that at this time Abdul Fasel (Abu al-Fadl) had
already received twelve wounds and stood by his horse under a tree. One of
the elephants of Abu al-Fadl, on which he commonly made it habit to ride,
had in the meantime been given to Bar Singh’s men by its pellowan or driver.
He showed that his master lay seriously wounded under a tree (AAB,5r/7-12;
Pelsaert K, 108).

According to Pelsaert K, Abtu al-Fadl was under a tree at the moment
when he was killed. AAB does not exclude the same situation that Abu
al-Fadl lay under a tree, although it does not narrate clearly. As for the
indication by the elephant-keeper of Abu al-Fadl, AAB’s narrative is in accord
with Pelsaert K’s.

However, in spite of the common points referred to above, the sources
other than AAB generally contain only parts of this quite detailed narration
in AAB. In the case of the mention of Gada’t Han, we should lay emphasis
on the point that the other attendants’ names are not referred to in the other
sources. Concerning the fatal wound of Abu al-Fadl, INJ does not describe
the piercing of the lance. TANI1 reports that “he, by the lance wound, which
reached his chest, got separated from the bright bay horse (gulgtin) of life
and dropped on to the earth of death” (TAN1,812) . Without the account
found in the narration of AAB, it is impossible for us to understand from
this passage that the lance blow to his chest was dealt from behind.

As we have just seen, some of the details coincide between AAB and
Pelsaert K as in the case of the Mustafa of Kalabag and the moment of the
murder. This fact leads us to think that AAB was one of the sources of
Pelsaert K. As a fact, in the end of Pelsaert K, the author suggests that on
account of the carelessness of Indian historians, he had to “translate” what
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had occurred before his days. As Kolff and Van Santen acknowledge, the
“translation” can have various meanings, not only the personal consultation
of Persian chronicle(s) by Pelsaert using his knowledge of the language®® , but
also the oral transmission from a clerk or the conversion of a difficult Persian
text to an easy one.

We are not in position to decide this point. In any case, if Kolff and
Van Santen’s estimate of the independence of Pelsaert K on Jesuit records
is true, it is reasonable for us to think that Pelsaert based his account on
local informants. As the editor of the English translation of Pelsaert says,
the use of Indian terms in Pelsaert K supports this supposition (Pelsaert tr,
3) . The use of the higrT calendar in the narration is strong evidence in favor
of this point. Our chronology of the compilation of AAB (1614 to 1627) and
the period of Pelsaert’s stay in Agrah (1621 to 1627) does not exclude the
possibility. The coincidence of some of the details seen above gives additional
support for us to suppose a relationship between AAB and Pelsaert K.

However the many examples of difference in narrative between the two
force us to reserve making a conclusion. We have already taken a look at
the different information given in AAB from Pelsaert K in the case of the
participation of Salim in the murder and in the itinerary of Abu al-Fadl.

For other examples, we shall mention two cases. At the moment of the
murder of Abt al-Fadl, AAB says that Bar Singh arrived in person at the site
and talked with Abu al-Fadl before the killing, while the wording of Pelsaert
K does not clearly state whether Bar Singh was present or not at the murder
and does not report about the talk. For another example, AAB only reports
the beheadal of Abli Fadl by the men of Bar Singh, while Pelsaert K says that
Bar Singh immediately wrapped up and packed (bewonden ende beslooten)
the head, and sent it to Elhabas (Ilahabas) for the prince Cha Chalim (Sah
Salim). There it was handed (behandicht) to the prince on the third day
(AAB,5v/3; Pelsaert K, 108-9). The delivery of the head is reported in
Guerreiro, JN, INJ, TAN1 and TAN2, though not in AAB, but the packing
by Bar Singh and the arrival on the third day are a unique account found
only in Pelsaert K.

Summing up these cases, there are so far no grounds to support the inter-
esting supposition of a relationship between AAB and Pelsaert K, although
we can not completely exclude it. The partial overlaps in narration can nei-
ther give evidence to the relationship nor exclude the existence of some other

80 There is no conclusive proof of Pelsaert’s knowledge of Persian.
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contemporary eyewitnesses, who were acquainted with Pelsaert in Agrah.
Even granting the relation to be true, we could only say that AAB had little
influence on Pelsaert K.

Given the above discussion, in spite of the existence of common informa-
tion concerning a few points, AAB is neither based on nor provides a basis for
the other sources concerning the case of Abu al-Fadl’s murder. Although we
should withhold judgement about the particular case of Pelsaert K, it is safe
to say that AAB’s information is independent of the other sources and on
account of this independence, it can be treated as a source of contemporary
historical value.

5. Conclusion

The above discussion has revealed that AAB, full of much detailed informa-
tion, has independent historical value as a source of the later years of Akbar.
However, AAB’s sharp focus on his personal matters yields a shortage of sys-
tematic and comprehensive description of those years. It should be clear that
we have to rely in a basic sense on the sources compiled under Sah Gahan
such as INJ, TAN1 and TAN2 in reconstructing the general framework of the
period. As a subject of future research, we must keep in mind that most of
the sources of Sah Gahan’s reign have yet to be studied from historiographi-
cal viewpoints. The position of each of the works and their mutual relations
have not been fully examined.

As another problem, let us take up the motive of Asad Big’s writing. He
does not mention anything concerning this point in his memoirs. However,
the fact that he wrote during Gahangir’s reign when he was assumed to have
lived in ill fortune, leads us to believe that his aim was to claim appropriate
treatment for his previous services. His reference to Akbar’s promise to pro-
mote him to the rank (mansab) of 1000 can be interpreted to bear such an
implicit message. If so, this explains why he wrote over ten years after the
events.

Yet more important is the fact that his memoirs were not utilized by
later histories and were neglected by his contemporaries. Under the present
condition of the sources, we are now not able to discuss why it was not read.
In fact, it would be more productive to speculate on the perceptions of his
contemporaries toward the same kind of literary works as AAB. It is true
that the genre of “memoirs” is conceptual and should be duly placed in the
perspective of Persian literary history. But we know of many writings, which
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could be characterized as memoirs, produced in Islamic India.*’ What the
social meaning of the self-expression of a man of letters in the Indo-Islamic
milieu was and what the reading, transcription and circulation of his work
meant in that society requires thorough examination.
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